
2016 
ANNUAL REPORT 

PRINCIPAL 
PARTNER



Contents 
Message from the ASC  Our Partners in Sport  Our Year in Focus 

02  03  04 
    04  President’s Report 

06  Chief Executive’s Report 

Our People  Our Award Winners  Our Website 

08  13  14 
Our Members  Our Performance  Our Teams 

17  31  52 
17 Canoe South Australia 

19 Canoe Tasmania 

21 Canoeing Victoria 

24 Canoeing Western Australia 

26 PaddleNSW 

28 Queensland Canoeing 

 31 Olympic High Performance  

36 Canoe Polo  

38 Canoe Slalom 

41 Canoe Sprint  

44 Canoe Marathon 

47 Freestyle  

48 Ocean Racing  

50 Wildwater 

  

Our Participation  Our Pathways  Financial Statements 

56 
 

58 

 

62 

 

Australian Canoeing Ltd. presents this report to its members and external stakeholders for the purpose of reporting operational 

and financial performance for the period July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016.  ABN 61 189 833 125, canoe.org.au 

http://canoe.org.au/


- 2 - 
 

Message from the Australian Sports Commission  

 
The Australian Sports Commission (ASC) congratulates our National Sporting Organisations (NSOs) on their achievements this year. In particular, we 

congratulate all of our athletes who represented Australia in the Rio Olympic and Paralympic Games. You did so with great distinction. The country is 

proud of your commitment and dedication, and the manner in which you conducted yourself throughout the campaigns.   

In the aftermath of the Games, the Board of the ASC has re-committed to the core principles of Australia’s Winning Edge, the ASC’s ten year plan for 

high performance sport introduced in 2012. The four key principles are: high aspirations for achievement; evidence-based funding decisions; sports 

owning their own high performance programs; and a strong emphasis on improved leadership and governance.  

We are confident these principles serve the long term interests of sporting sector.   

We will also use the experience of the last four years to seek to improve implementation of Winning Edge in ways that will benefit the sector.  

The ASC is equally committed to increasing community participation in sport, particularly amongst our children and youth. We have been pleased this 

year to see our flagship participation program Sporting Schools reach over 4,300 schools in partnership with NSOs.  

Innovations by the ASC this year included the release of our Integrity Guidelines for Directors and Leaders of Sporting Organisations, which provides 

directors with comprehensive and practical guidance for the first time on anti-doping, sport science and medicine, illicit drugs, match-fixing, child 

protection and member protection – vital issues for maintaining trust and respect in the sporting sector.  

We also staged our inaugural Athlete and Coaches Forum, giving Australia’s elite athletes and coaches the opportunity to share their experiences and 

enhance their leadership capabilities. 

And we were delighted to see fruits of our efforts to improve female opportunity in sports, with improved elite and participation opportunities in 

women’s sport, better media exposure, some outstanding new commercial deals, and an increase in female representation at NSO board level from 

27 per cent to a 39 per cent across the top 23 NSOs. 

Looking ahead, ASC priorities include:  

 further institutional and governance reform in sport, with an emphasis on increased national integration and alignment  

 increased funding for sport, including new non-government sources of funding 

 further embedding sport in schools’ educational programs  

 improved national coordination of sports infrastructure spending, and  

 Improved use of data and technology in sports.  

Reforms like this are often hard to achieve but have profound long term benefits. The evermore competitive environment in world sport on display in 
Rio highlights the critical importance of further reform if Australia is to maintain its proud reputation and traditions as a sporting nation. 

The ASC thanks all of our sector partners for your effort and contribution to Australian sport. We look forward to continued success and progress 
together. 

 

John Wylie AM 
Chair 
Australian Sports Commission 
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Our Partners in Sport 
Principal Partners 

The Australian Sports Commission and the Australian Institute of Sport are our principal funding partners, providing high 

performance and sport development resources for Australian Canoeing. We wish to recognise the ASC and the AIS High 

Performance Program for their continuing investment in the sport of canoe/kayak. 

 

Program Partners  

Australian Canoeing relies heavily on its Olympic profile to create participation and development opportunities. The ongoing 

funding and support of the Australian Olympic Committee and the Australian Paralympic Committee is vital. 

  

 

 

 

 

Our relationships with the national sport academy and sport institute network are the foundation for providing elite paddling 

opportunities to talented athletes Australia-wide. The support of state and local government can never be underestimated.  

  
 

 
 

 

    

Official Sponsor                                                  Travel Partners 
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Our Year in Focus 
President’s Report 
 

It is with mixed emotion that I present my final report to AC 

as the President and Chair of the organisation.  In saying this 

I am also excited about the next chapter in our sports 

evolution and what we will look like moving into the future.   

 

With our first full year as a limited Company, AC has been 

actively working towards making our sport more relevant at 

a participatory level, commercially attractive and continued 

excellence in performance. This has seen the unanimous 

support for AC to change name to “Paddle Australia”. It has 

also seen the development of a branding and 

implementation strategy and the restructure of the 

organisation.  This has all been underpinned by the research 

undertaken by Repucom over the past year which will 

continue to inform our strategies moving forward. 

 

Last year I highlighted that AC was working through the ASC 

prioritisation model pyramid and that we were sitting at the 

research and evidence level. Over the next year we will move 

into the delivery level of the model and this will commence 

with the branding piece followed by the digital strategy. 

 

I also highlighted a number of key areas that AC identified as 

pivotal to our future success - these were: 

 

 Research to expand our appeal to the broader 

paddling community; 

 Branding and a national symbol that represents our 

sport;  

 Innovative thinking and strategies to move towards a 

more exciting and independent organisation; 

 Seamless change of leadership for AC; and 

 Seamless rollover of skilled Board Members.  

 

These key areas shaped the work undertaken this year and 

has also highlighted work still to be undertaken.   

 

The work in the area of research and branding has been 

extremely beneficial and has resulted in the AC building a 

story behind our brand which is inclusive and fun. We have 

also amended our strategic plan to better represent the 

sport and is in line with our branding narrative of “lead 

connect and grow”  

 

This work has allowed us to identify key opportunities to 

build the participatory base of our sport. As a result of the 

research project and results, AC was nominated as one of 

three sports to receive a grant to undertake a whole of sport 

digital transformation strategy. 

 

The implementation of the “new brand” will be the main 

focus this year along with the commencement of the digital 

strategy work and development of plans to support the key 

opportunities identified through the research project.  

 

With my term as the President and Chair concluding at this 

AGM, I have, over the past six months, been delegating work 

and responsibilities to my Vice Chair Andrea McQuitty to 

ensure that corporate knowledge is maintained and an 

informed seamless transition occurs.  

 

The Board has undergone both a skills audit through the 

Nominations Committee as well as a final review with Dr 

Dennis Mowbray. This has assisted in identifying appropriate 

skills that the Board requires over the next three years.    

 

Last year, I encouraged our member states to nominate 

people who had diverse skills sets and potential to add value 

to our Board. Whilst the new Constitution has provided 

some challenges on the process for elected directors, I am 

very pleased that AC had 17 expressions of interest to be 

considered for the Board. This provides AC with an extensive 

pool of skills sets to choose from. We will be looking at the 

best way to overcome the current anomalies with the 

process of selection at our strategic forum. 

 

Another piece of significant work being undertaken is the 

restructure of the organisation which has included a review 

of the high performance structure. As we are at the 

beginning of a new Olympiad it is the appropriate time to 

review high performance with a view to improving our 

program looking for efficiencies, best practices and 

innovative edges. This is well underway and should be 

finalised by March 2017. 

 

Our teams have excelled on the international stage with this 

year culminating in our sprint and slalom athletes 

representing at the Rio Olympics Games and our inaugural 

inclusion in the Paralympics, with Ken Wallace, Lachlan 
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Tame and Jess Fox winning Bronze medals in their respective 

events and our Paralympians, Curtis McGrath, Amanda 

Reynolds and Susan Seipal winning Gold Silver and Bronze in 

their respective events. We will celebrate the success of our 

athletes across all our disciplines along with our standout 

coaches volunteers and administrators at our annual awards 

dinner.   

 

The work undertaken by the staff and the Board in the areas 

of governance and financial accountability will continue as it 

provides the foundation for our sport to excel.  

 

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge Mr 

Martyn Clancy-Lowe who will retire from the Board at the 

AGM.  Martyn has been with the Board since April 2007 and 

his contribution has been invaluable to the Board and the 

sport. I wish him well in his endeavors and hope to retain his 

input and expertise by uitlising his experience on some of 

our committees. 

 

Finally, I would like to thank the Board, the staff of AC and 

our member States for their ongoing contribution to our 

sport. I have been very proud to lead the sport as its 

President and Chair for the past nine years and I am equally 

proud to hand over the stewardship of the sport to the Board 

who have been a pleasure to work with. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Danielle Woodward OAM 

President and Chair  

Australian Canoeing Ltd. 
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Chief Executive’s Report
It gives me great pleasure to provide to you my Chief Executive 
Officer’s report for 2015/2016. The year in review has seen the 
achievement of significant organisational outcomes that have 
provided the platform for Australian Canoeing’s sustained 
growth and high profile both nationally and internationally. 
 
On the 9th July, 2015 Australian Canoeing Inc. was registered 
by ASIC as ‘Australian Canoeing Limited’ (AC) where we 
migrated from an Incorporated entity to a public company 
limited by guarantee with a new Constitution. On the 3 August, 
2016, the State Member Associations voted unanimously for 
AC to change its name to ‘Paddle Australia Limited.’ At the 2016 
AGM / Strategic Forum / Awards Dinner weekend, the Board 
will discuss with the State Member Associations when the 
name change will become effective. 
 
AC has engaged DAIS (brand strategist company) to develop an 
implementation plan for ‘Paddle Australia’. The rebranding is 
much more than a name change with a new logo as it is about 
‘living the brand’. It will capture the values of the need to be 
‘valued’, ‘respected’, ‘inclusive’ and ‘commercial’. To outline 
the branding and receive feedback, AC has undertaken a 
national Paddle Australia presentation roadshow with the 
respective Boards of all State Member Associations. 
 
AC continues to improve its organisational capability 
representing financial strength and an effective business 
strategy. In July 2015, AC began trading as a company Limited 
by Guarantee. The 2016 financial statements effectively treat 
the organisation as a new entity and thus there are no 
comparative 2015 figures presented in the statements. The 
trading outcome for the year shows a surplus of $17,194. 
Having started with AC when the organisation had negative net 
assets (-$111K) and a turnover of $1.1M, it is very pleasing to 
see the organisation rebuild its current financial position to a 
turnover of over seven million dollars.  
 
This significant increase in turnover is largely a result of High 
Performance (Sprint & Slalom), Paracanoe and Participation 
funding provided by the Australian Sports Commission (ASC) 
representing $5.663M with all funding coming directly to AC 
and being managed and reported upon through a consolidated 
‘whole of sport’ budget. 
 
State Member Associations (MAs) continued to support the 
operations of AC through the payment of affiliation fees. State 
MA affiliation fees are determined by a ‘weighted matrix’ that 
comprises strategic descriptors and associated weightings. The 
payment of such fees in a timely and co-operative manner has 
not gone unnoticed and is greatly appreciated with this level of 
support contributing to the current financial stability of AC.  
 
It is the intent of AC to keep building the net financial position 
of the organisation until the financial base is large enough to be 
able to withstand adverse budget variances which will help 
maintain the organisation’s financial stability. The long term 

aspiration is to build the net assets of the organisation to 
around 10% of the organisation’s annual turnover. 
AC received a grant from the ASC to collectively undertake 
market research with Repucom (research company) to 
understand and identify opportunities in the recreational 
paddling market. The research identified that the total 
Australian adult recreational paddling market is 3.65 million of 
which AC is engaged with a small number representing 
approximately 9,000. A total of 33,000 associate themselves 
specifically with the sport and the broader paddling market has 
a younger skew than the current member base. The key drivers 
for AC to engage with the recreational market are ‘fun’, 
‘fitness’, ‘exploration’, ‘escapism’, ‘accessibility’, ‘ease’, 
‘information’, ‘connection’ and ‘hirers/retailers’. 
 
The research identified four key opportunity areas re 
i. Enhancing / creating paddling experiences; 
ii. Engaging through information platforms; 
iii. Connecting through introductory programs; and 
iv. Leveraging the club network. 
 
The Board have considered these and have produced a ranked 
list of opportunity priorities and associated delivery and 
implementation detail for such. 
 
To complement the research findings and associated 
opportunities, the ASC provided AC with a grant to engage 
Symplicit (digital company) to map out a customer-centred 
‘whole of sport’ digital strategy and corresponding delivery 
roadmap. This has commenced and Members will be advised of 
the respective phases at the 2016 ‘Meeting of the Minds’ 
Strategic Forum (12-13 November) in Sydney. It is imperative 
that AC work with digital industry experts and the ASC to 
develop digital transformation strategies and systems to 
ensure we remain a cutting-edge National Sporting 
Organisation. There is a saying that ‘data is the oil of business’ 
and we must continue to develop strategies to access, collect 
and utilise data to drive the catch cry ‘think water think AC’. 
 
Every four years, the efforts of our elite Sprint and Slalom 
paddlers are broadcast around the world and into the homes 
of everyday Australians providing many sports, such as ours, 
with unprecedented media profile and acceptance. The 
Olympic Games* and inaugural inclusion of canoeing in the 
Paralympic Games* represent the culmination of many years of 
sustained commitment, dedication and passion for the cause of 
the ‘Green & Gold’ and the quest for the podium. It is a time 
when both heroes are made and disappointments played out. 
Smiles beam and tears flow as the hopes and aspirations of our 
paddlers are there for us all to witness on prime time television. 
To everyone on the Australian team including coaches and 
support staff, well done! 
 
Our national international touring teams comprising Canoe 
Polo (World Championships & Oceania), Canoe Marathon 
(Junior / U23 & Senior World Championships, Masters World 
Cup, ENT), Wildwater (Senior World Championships), Ocean 
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Racing (Junior / U23, Senior & Masters World Championships), 
Canoe Slalom (NTS, Junior / U23 & Senior World 
Championships & Senior World Cups) and Canoe Sprint 
(Olympic Hopes, Junior / 23, Paracanoe & Senior World 
Championships, Senior World Cups)  competed with 
distinction. The success of our paddlers on the international 
stage provide inspiration to those who aspire to represent 
Australia as well highlighting the strength of Canoeing in 
Australia.  
 
AC has commenced the process of reviewing our current 2015-
2017 Strategic Plan which is a three year rolling plan. There will 
be three strategic priority areas in the 2017-2019 Strategic 
Plan; 
 
1. Lead (We lead our sport by empowering others) - We are 
creating a powerful and solid framework for our sport that will 
empower each level to achieve and perform. 
 
2. Connect (We are the connecting foundation for our 
stakeholders) - We will build on new and existing connections 
to our sport and our sporting community through education, 
participation and commercialisation. 
 
3. Grow (We will foster and drive growth of our stakeholders 
and sport) – Our staff, States, clubs and commercial partners 
will grow in professionalism and capability. This will grow 
participation and performance of Australian paddlers. 
 
To deliver the Strategic Plan and with the contract tenure for 
most HP staff finishing year-end, AC engaged Left Field Sports 
Solutions to complete a preliminary ‘whole of sport’ 
organisational review of AC with the intent of the review to 
provide a first stage report outlining some key observations 
and commentary to facilitate more detailed debate and 
detailed planning around the future organisational structure of 
AC. I am pleased to advise that this has been successfully 
completed. Later this year, the Board will consider the 2017+ 
AC organisational structure and associated staffing. 
 
In respect to national education and safety matters, the 
Education & Safety Committee (E&SC) with Mark Thurgood 
(Community Participation Coordinator) continued to be 
proactive. I commend you to read the achievements of AC in 
these areas in another section contained within the Annual 
Report.  
 
On a sad note, we pay tribute to the passing of Brian Trouville 
(April 2016), Norman Woodford (May 2016) and Susan Quick 
(January 2016).  Each made a distinguished contribution to 
canoeing in Australia and has left the sport with ongoing 
legacies and memories. 
 
I would like to thank the professional and extremely 
knowledgeable Board of Directors who continue to provide 
strong corporate governance and a clear strategic direction for 
the organisation as well as providing ‘value add’ to 
management. Of particular note is that the Director terms of 
both Danielle Woodward OAM (President/Chair) and Martyn 

Clancy-Lowe conclude at the 2016 AGM. On behalf of the Board 
and management, I’d like to acknowledge their commitment 
and professionalism over a sustained period with Danielle 
providing outstanding leadership in managing the Board and 
fostering a culture of unity, accountability and transparency. 
There is a saying that ‘you are only as good as the people 
around you’ and this is certainly true with the AC staff. ‘Team 
AC’ demonstrated commitment, enthusiasm, expertise, 
professionalism and willingness to simply ‘get the job done’. 
For this, I personally congratulate the staff and reaffirm my 
belief that our staff are our organisation’s most valuable asset. 
 
The tireless work that our fantastic team of volunteers provide 
need special acknowledgement. These include officials at 
national events, Technical Committee Chairs and respective 
Committees and touring team officials. On many occasions 
your contribution goes unnoticed but it is vital for our success 
and is greatly appreciated by the Board, management and 
members alike. 
 
2015/2016 has been a historical year for AC. We are in an 
exciting phase of our evolution and I look forward to continuing 
to grow our great sport with each of you in the coming years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Gregory P. Doyle 
Chief Executive Officer 
Australian Canoeing Ltd. 
 

 

 

 

 

* Although the 2016 Rio Olympics occurred strictly outside the 
reporting period (1 July 2015 – 30 June 2016), it has been 
included in this report to mirror the annual awards eligibility 
criteria consideration.  
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Our People
Board of Directors 

President and Chair Ms. Danielle Woodward OAM  

Director Mr. Martyn Clancy-Lowe  

Director Mr. Claude Harran (reappointed May 2016) 

Director Mr. Ian Hume  

Director Ms. Andrea McQuitty  

Director Mr. James Rennell  

Director Ms. Anita Taylor  

Athlete Representative Mr. Ken Wallace OAM  

 

 

Directors’ Meetings 

 

During the 2015-16 financial year, seven Board meetings were held. Attendance at those meetings was as follows: 

 

Director Board Meetings Eligible to Attend Board Meetings Attended Apologies for Absence 

Ms. Danielle Woodward OAM 7 6 1 

Mr. Martyn Clancy-Lowe 7 4 3 

Mr. Claude Harran 7 7 0 

Mr. Ian Hume 7 7 0 

Ms. Andrea McQuitty 7 7 0 

Mr. James Rennell 7 6 1 

Ms. Anita Taylor 7 7 0 

Mr. Ken Wallace OAM** 7 1 6 

Ms. Kate Leverett** 7 1 6 

**Chair – Athlete’s commission
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AC Corporate Office 

Chief Executive Officer Mr. Greg Doyle 

Business Manager Mr. Richard Roach 

Operations Manager Ms. Mary Macaluso 

ICT Coordinator Mr. Sam Lyons (resigned 

January 2016) 

IT Coordinator Mr. David Winkle 

(appointed January 2016) 

Community Participation 

Coordinator 

Mr. Mark Thurgood  

Administration and 

Projects Officer 

Ms. Zoe Mackenzie 

(appointed July 

2015/resigned April 2016) 

Administration Officer Ms. Courtney McMillan 

(appointed January 2016) 

Projects Officer Ms. Amanda Collins 

(appointed October 

2015/resigned June 2016) 

AC High Performance Office 
National Performance 

Director 
Mr. Richard Fox  

High Performance 

Manager 
Ms. Lauren Fitzsimons 

High Performance 

Coordinator 

Ms. Asha Venkataya 

(appointed July 2015) 

High Performance 

Support   

Mr. Tom Collings (resigned 

March 2016) 

Program Manager - 

Slalom 
Ms. Natasha Welsh  

Head National Coach - 

Slalom 
Mr. Mike Druce 

National Coach - Slalom Mrs. Myriam Fox  

 

NSWIS National Coach - 

Slalom 
Mr. Julien Billaut 

Sports Scientist - Slalom Mr. David Dwyer 

Program Manager - Sprint Ms. Christine Bain 

Head Coach (Men) - Sprint Mr. Jimmy Owens 

Head Coach (Women) - 

Sprint 
Mr. David Foureur 

Coach (Women) - Sprint Ms. Anna Wood  

Coach - Paracanoe Ms. Andrea King 

National Coordinator 

200m 

Mr. Mike Pond (resigned 

March 2016) 

National Pathways 

Manager 

Dr. Melissa Hopwood 

(resigned October 2015) 

Elite Development 

Coordinator (NE) 

Mr. Glenn Pyne (appointed 

July 2015) 

Elite Development 

Coordinator (SE) 

Mr. Michael Hudson 

(appointed September 

2015) 

Elite Development 

Coordinator (WA) 
Mr. Guy Power  

NSWIS Coach - Sprint Mr. Tim Jacobs  

SASI Coach - Sprint Mr. Kris Lepianka 

SASI Coach - Sprint Mr. Nathan Luce 

WAIS Coach - Sprint Mr. Ramon Andersson 

Sports Science Mr. Brett Slocombe 

Sports Science Ms. Nicola Bullock 

Sports Science Mr. Glen Workman 

Sports Science Mr. Dave Aitkin 
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Life Members (* denotes deceased) 

Brownlee, Mr. Os * 1972 

Brownlee OAM, Miss. Helen  1999 

Chenoworth, Mr. Ross * 1971 

Coles AM, Mr. Phil  1981 

Gardner, Mr. Gary * 1994 

Hill, Mr. Max * 1971 

Hopkins, Mr. Albert * 1971 

Howard, Mr. Arthur * 1971 

Johnson, Mr. Graham  1985 

Morison OAM, Mrs. Joan * 2003 

Murphy OAM, Mr. Thomas James (Jim)  2005 

Natoli, Ms. Sue  2015 

Savage, Mr. Harry * 1971 

Varcoe, Mr. George * 1971 

Whitebrook, Mr. Frank * 1971 

Woodward OAM, Ms. Danielle  2014 

Committees  

Athletes Commission 

Chair   Ken Wallace 

Vice Chair  Kate McGrath 

Member     Craig Hutchinson 

Member   Sarah Forsythe 

Canoe Polo Technical Committee 

Chair   Ian Beasley 

Board Rep.   Ian Hume 

Member   Anthea Courtney 

Member  Donald Leigh    

Member   Michael Lawrence-Taylor 

Member  John Moore 

Member   Matthew Moore 

Member   Robert Watson 

Canoe Marathon Racing Technical Committee 

Chair   Jeremy Dunn 

Board Rep.  Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Member   Joe Alia 

Member   Thomas Balaam 

Member   Margi Bohm 

Member   Bob Turner  

Secretary   Connie Todaro 

Canoe Slalom Technical Committee 

Chair    Lucy Williams 

Board Rep.  Ian Hume 

Ex-officio Member  Mike Druce 

Ex-officio Member Richard Fox 

Ex-officio Member Danielle Woodward OAM 
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Member   Graeme Caudry 

Member   Peter Eckhardt 

Member   Christine Grant 

Member   Louise Natoli 

Member   Sue Natoli 

Member   Chris Thompson 

Canoe Sprint Technical Committee 

Chair   Greg Kaeding 

Board Rep.  Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Ex-officio  Richard Fox 

Ex-officio  Ian Hume 

Member   Jim Murphy 

Member   Dasha Kopecek 

Member   Jeremy Norton 

Member   Laura White 

Freestyle Technical Committee 

Chair   Jez Blanchard 

Board Rep.   James Rennell 

Member   Eileen Callaghan 

Member   Joseph Dunne 

Member   Sue Robb 

Member   Joshua Singleton 

Ocean Racing Technical Committee 

Chair   Robert Jenkinson 

Board Rep.  Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Ex-officio Member Greg Doyle 

Member   Tim Hookins 

Member   Julie Jenkinson 

Member   Mike Milks-Thom 

Member   Robbie Stewart 

Member   Jimmy Walker 

Wildwater Technical Committee 

Chair   Peter McIntyre 

Board Rep.  Danielle Woodward OAM 

Member   Matt Dalziel 

Member   Leigh Murphy 

Education and Safety Committee 

Chair   Jason Dicker 

Board Rep.  Andrea McQuitty 

Ex-officio Member Mark Thurgood 

Ex-officio  Ian Hume 

Member   Nick Anson 

Member   Peter Carter 

Member   Morgen Masuku 

Member   Graham Sharpe 

Recreation Advisory Group 

Board Rep (Chair)  Andrea McQuitty 

Ex-officio Member Mark Thurgood 

Member   Paul Harding 

Member   John McCausland 

Member   Lynn Parker  

Member   Stephen Rowland 

Audit & Risk Committee 

Board Rep (Chair)  Ian Hume 

Ex-officio Member Greg Doyle 

Ex-officio Member Richard Roach 

Member   Ross Fowler 

Member   Connie Todaro  

Member   Jocelyn Webb 

Honours Committee 

Member   John Borojevic 

Member   Helen Brownlee OAM 

Member   Jeremy Dunn 

Member   Jim Murphy OAM 

Nominations Committee  

Board Rep (Chair)  Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Member   Paul Bruce  

Member   Amanda Branley 

Member   Geoff Howes 

Member   Mary-Anne Watkins 
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Obituaries 

Vale Brian Trouville 

 

On the 19 April 2016 at the age of 74 Brian Trouville sadly 

passed away.  

Brian’s career within paddling was not subject to just sprint 

coaching, his efforts were also seen in Surf Life Saving and as 

a founding member of Southside Paddlers Club in NSW. 

Brian’s Career and Achievements 

 Brian was the Head Coach of Australian Canoeing 

during the 1980’s when the Elite Centre was 

established on the Gold Coast. In this role he was the 

Head Coach at three Olympic Games; Seoul, Barcelona, 

and Atlanta.  

 Brian was awarded in 1988 an Award of Merit by 

Australian Canoeing.  

 The Australian Government presented Brian with an 

Australian Sports Medal in 2000. 

 In 2010, Brian co-founded Southside Canoe Club to 

help develop local talent and allowing young athletes 

to compete at State and National championships.  

 Brian was awarded Coach of the Year at PaddleNSW 

2014/2015 Awards and was also recognised for his 

Distinguished Long Service to the sport.  

 In 2015, Sport NSW honoured Brian with Coach of the 

Year and with a Community Sports Volunteer Award.  

 

 

Vale Norman Woodford  

In May 2016 Norman Woodford sadly passed away. Norm 

had been a regular volunteer who helped out at our Slalom 

and Sprint competitions at the Whitewater Centre and 

Regatta Centre, Penrith.  Norm began volunteering for 

paddling events during the 2000 Sydney Olympic Games and 

continued to help with events ever since; such as the 

Australian World Championships, several of the Australian 

Opens and Australian Youth Olympic Festivals as well as the 

smaller Penrith Valley competitions.  During events he 

helped with setting up, taking down and general tasks.  He 

was always cheerful and enthusiastic.  He especially liked the 

hospitality jobs that brought him into contact with lots of 

people – like distributing the food and drinks to the judges 

and other volunteers, giving him the chance to stop for a 

chat here and there. 

Vale Susan Quick 

On the 24 January 2016 Susan Quick, an Ascot Kayak Club 

member sadly passed away. Susan’s passing was through a 

tragic paddling accident on the Blackwood River. Susan has 

been paddling for quite a few years and has done several 

Avon Descents and has competed in the Western Australia 

Whitewater Championships and was the State 

Female Champion, 2015.
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Our Award Winners 2014-15 
Canoeist of the Year Olympic Jessica Fox 

Canoeist of the Year (Non-Olympic) Cory Hill 

Junior Canoeist of the Year (Olympic) Oliver James 

Junior Canoeist of the Year (Non-Olympic) Kate Eckhardt 

Paracanoeist of the Year Curtis McGrath 

Master Canoeist of the Year Margi Bohm 

Team of the Year 
Open Men’s K2 1000m (Lachlan Tame and Ken 

Wallace) 

Instructor/Guide of the Year Brian McCarthy 

Coach of the Year Andrea King 

Technical Official of the Year Bob Turner 

Service to Canoeing Ian Frost, Julie Frost, and Shane Dalziel 

Award of Merit Eileen Callaghan 

Award of Merit Amanda Reynolds 

Award of Merit Susan Seipel 

Award of Merit Ken Wallace 

Olegas Truchanas Award South Georgia Island Circumnavigators 

President’s Award Christine Duff 

People’s Choice Amanda Reynolds 
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Our Website 

Data transposed from visitor statistics recorded on the AC website. 

 

Comparing data year on year suggests an interesting change in viewing patterns. Closer analysis shows visitation and page views 

are directly proportionate to interest stories and website updates that have been provided throughout the year. Although not 

clear in this year’s figures, a sharp rise and continued interest, as a result of the Olympic’s started to take effect from late  July all 

the way through till late October. Our followers in the space are accutely aware of updates and keen to read what we have to say 

when this information is posted on our Website.  

Our Social Media Followers 

 

4268 
 

2873 

Our social media following has continued to increase highlighting the importance of maintaining interest in this space. We will 

continue to grow our following by keeping our stories and snippits of information pertinent and current, which in turn will continue 

to raise awareness of activities throughout the organisation. 
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Our Membership 

 

Data taken from Sporting DNA Member Management System for the 2015 – 2016 season. 
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This view of who we are may resonate with many who are familiar with club based organisations throughout Australia. AC has 

undertaken an in depth survey to better understand who we are, where we paddle and why we paddle this insight will shape the 

strategic plan and the programs we deliver over the next four years and may change what our membership will look like.  

Our Membership Categorisation 

AC as a whole undertook a major revamp of its member categories this season resulting in a clearer picture of our membership 

including, a defined recreational and competition perspective, age and demographic breakdown, and major State group 

categories. This was enabled at the State and Territory level providing for the first time a common selection criteria to align the 

depth of club categories currently in existence. 

The benefits as we move forward will be realised through clearer understanding of who we are and how we like to paddle enabling 

us to support and develop programs that grow and enhance our organisation into the future. 

AC would like to thank the State Member Associations and all the Clubs for their help and cooperation during the membership 

categoristion change over.  
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     Our Members  
Canoe South Australia 

Canoe SA Board 

The Canoe South Australia (CSA) Board has managed a 

number of operational challenges over the past year. The 

retirement of our long standing Executive Officer Ian Heard 

has been a significant loss to the Association. Sourcing a 

suitable replacement within budget is one of our current 

challenges.  

Working with the South Australian Office for Recreation and 

Sport, the Board has undertaken a number of training 

programs and workshops to review our governance process 

and the strategic plan. Three members of the Board 

undertook the Australian Institute of Directors Governance 

program.  

Three Board members, who have provided years of 

leadership and service to CSA, retired from the Board during 

the year. Their service is acknowledged and they retire 

leaving a solid foundation for the future.   

The ongoing challenge for the Board is to manage change, 

and the related opportunities presented. Our focus for the 

coming year is to implement the programs funded by the 

Office of Recreation and Sport and establish a sustainable 

business model whilst ensuring the ongoing Education, 

Recreation and Community programs are sustained.  

The Board thanks both David Heard and Shirley Higgins for 

their positive approach to managing the CSA office 

operations. 

Volunteers 

The Board acknowledges the effort and commitment of the 

many volunteers who provide time and talent to facilitate 

the many programs and events conducted under the Canoe 

SA banner.  

Grant Funding 

The South Australian Government Office for Recreation and 

Sport has provided significant funding for the: 

 State Development Program; 

 Paracanoe; 

 Sustainability Program; to support leadership, 

policies and administration services; 

 Women’s participation and development; and 

 Waterways Guide project. 

Education 

The Canoe SA ESTC meets on a regular basis, and the 

Assessor Group continues to be maintained via regular 

communication. All courses provide a net financial return to 

CSA, with the focus on the ESTC to be self-reliant for 

delivery of training and admin support. 

A new course ‘Get into Paddling’ has been included in a 

substantial 2016/7 education and training, program. This 

course is structured as an introduction to safe kayaking for 

new participants. Non ACAS, but that could be built in. 

Pathways Program 

In November 2015 CSA launched the State Development 
Program. This program is aimed at increasing the quantity 
and quality of athletes aged 14-16 within the State. The 
program proved to be very successful with athlete numbers 
increasing from 24 at launch to 44 athletes by June 2016.  

The majority of the new athletes came from the 2015 SASI 
Talent Search Program. The program also saw an additional 
eight athletes graduate on to the National Talent Squad.  

Another major achievement of the program was the 
establishment of a junior training squad at Holdfast Bay 
Canoe  

Club. The squad, coached by Luke Haniford, now consists 12 

athletes aged 13-16 who are all part of the State 

Development Program.  

Para-Paddling Program 

The CSA Para-Paddling Program is aimed at promoting 

competitive and participation based involvement for 

people with a disability.  

There are currently five participants of the competitive side 

of the program and there have been ongoing come and try 

sessions available. The major success of the program was 

Jocelyn Neumueller first qualifying for the Australian Para-

Canoe team, and then going on to qualify for a spot in the 

Australian Paralympic Team.  
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Waterways Guide 

CSA has supported the work commenced by Paddle NSW 

to develop an Australian on-line paddle resource in the 

Waterways Guide website. The work has been made 

possible by funding provided to CSA by the SA 

Government, Office for Recreation and Sport. Decisions 

on priorities for the mapping and research have been 

based on 3 identified priorities: 

1.       Close to population centres; 

2.       Known to be well used by the community; and 

3.       Aligned to current canoe centres. 

Work undertaken in 2015/16 has centred on flatwater 

routes close to Adelaide, including Port River, West 

Lakes and Onkaparinga River. Identified access points 

and points of interest are being added to assist paddlers 

in planning their journey. 

Identified areas for 2016/17 include substantial sections 

of the River Murray including the existing anabranch and 

backwater areas of the current Canoe Guide series of 

Chowilla, Katarapko Creek and Loch Luna. 

Peter Johnston 

Chair 

Canoe South Australia 
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Canoe Tasmania 

Canoe Tasmania has remained strong and sustainable over 

the 2015-16 year during which a fourth club affiliated. With 

the affiliation of Launceston Paddlers Club our member 

numbers have climbed and competitor numbers in flat water 

and ocean racing have increased. If this proceeds it will 

further strengthen the association.  However, the teething 

issues with the still relatively new AC membership system 

have continued to adversely affect total membership across 

the state.   

We have continued to provide a wide array of education 

courses through the Australian Canoeing Award Scheme 

helping get people into canoeing in a safe and enjoyable 

fashion, and providing basic through to high-level instructor 

skills to maintain and increase the spread of good canoeing 

techniques and practices. We also had a first with the 

development and running of a pack-rafting course which 

proved very popular and has attracted interstate interest.   

In the first half of the year whitewater competition and the 

education program’s venue options continued to be 

restricted for a third year due to Hydro Tasmania’s 

continued dam and power station maintenance and 

drought. This created logistical challenges which we 

nonetheless worked around. Hydro Tasmania has, as always, 

been incredibly helpful and supportive within their 

maintenance and generation limitations.  

In January 2016, in a first for Australian Canoeing, Canoe 

Tasmania and Canoe Western Australia (CWA) combined 

forces to run three Australian Championships – the 2016 

Australian Slalom and Wildwater Championships and the 

2015 All Schools Championships. This arrangement was very 

successful, increasing the number of people on the 

organising committee and spreading the workload 

considerably. We are grateful for the support of CWA which 

enabled event preparation and the two-week long festival to 

run smoothly and efficiently. 

Unfortunately, following the championships, significant 

damage was caused to the Mersey Slalom and Wildwater 

Course (the Mersey Whitewater Regional Reserve) by 

bushfires which burned out of control for around a month. 

Sadly, the extensive renewal work undertaken at the course 

prior to the 2016 Championship series was all but totally 

destroyed including most wires and almost all the brand new 

slalom gates. Significant clean-up work was done to remove 

hazards and start the recovery process when severe, record 

breaking floods ravaged much of the state.  

These floods destroyed three of the four slalom courses in 

Tasmania (only Brady’s Lake was spared). The Forth site had 

all its slalom gates, wires and steel support poles destroyed, 

its wooden walkways ripped up by the flood waters and all 

the trees in the lower part of the site destroyed. Broken 

Bridge on the Derwent had all its wires and slalom gates 

washed away. The Mersey slalom course, what was left after 

the fires, was also washed away.  More significantly, the 

Mersey Forest Road, the main access route to the Mersey, 

suffered two significant wash-outs which will take many 

months to repair – funds are yet to be found for this. 

Although passable, the only alternative but much longer 

route, via high altitude, unsealed, forestry roads, has been 

closed to the public due to flood damage and safety 

concerns. Only one canoeing representative has so far been 

allowed into the area to assess damage and commence 

planning for reconstruction.  

Canoe Tasmania is currently working with the Tasmanian 

Parks and Wildlife Service on plans for repair of the Mersey 

site and a long-term development plan, while the clubs are 

each repairing their respective slalom courses. However, the 

future use of the Mersey is totally dependent on the repair 

to Mersey Forest Road which as yet is uncertain.  

Nonetheless, throughout 2015-16 all clubs in the state have 

continued to run a wide array of events, including Slalom, 

Flatwater (Sprint and longer races), Ocean Racing, 

Wildwater Racing, Xtream Racing, as well as a wide range of 

recreational paddling. Well over 50 competitive events are 

conducted each year, meaning there is rarely a week 

throughout the year without a competition paddling 

opportunity.  

Canoe Polo competitions continue to be well supported in 

the north and south of the state with over 20 weeks of roster 

competition each year and state championships now held in 

four successive years.  Canoe Tasmania remains hopeful that 

Tasmania will again field teams in the National 

Championships as it did previously.  

Ocean racing has continued strongly with a big selection of 

races each summer – both twilight and longer sea-breeze 

ocean races almost every weekend. This is supplemented by 

strongly supported Flatwater races over winter.  Both sprint 

and 10km races have remained very popular. In Sprint, Tom 

Norton gained national team selection for the Australian 

Under 23 Team competing at the World Championships in 

Poland, and making the finals in the K2 500m.  
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The Slalom Development Program continues to produce 

good outcomes with strong pool of young paddlers 

making their mark nationally and internationally. 

Primarily located in the  south and coached by Peter 

Eckhardt and David Borojević, Tasmanian paddlers Kate 

Eckhardt, Daniel Watkins again represented Australia 

internationally and gaining good results – Daniel’s 5th 

place at the Under 23 World Slalom Championships 

being a highlight.   

Recreational paddling continues its growth with 

whitewater, sea, lake and estuary paddling being 

increasingly popular for fitness and general recreation. 

Derwent Canoe Club has followed Tamar’s lead and is 

scheduling regular novice to intermediate “under 3” trips 

as a pathway into paddling. There are also many, 

informal paddling groups meeting for regular social and 

training paddles at many venues across the state. A 

continuing challenge is maintaining our enviable safety 

record and somehow reaching the legions of sit-on-top 

and beginner estuary/sea paddlers who pose risks to 

themselves through poor skills and potential lack of 

awareness of canoeing’s inherent risks.  

In Xtreme Racing the Lea Race continues after 13 years 

as Australia’s premier Xtreme race, along with its newer 

cousin – the North Esk Paddle Fest which was hugely 

successful for its third year and is a welcome addition to 

the Xtreme racing calendar.  

Canoe Tasmania remains in a strong position financially 

with good membership numbers and a fourth club now 

affiliated. We have kept affiliation fees low again in 2014-

15, financially benefiting clubs and strengthening their 

ability to fund activities and equipment for their 

members. We face financial and personnel challenges in 

the repair of key facilities, but look forward to a strong 

2016-17.  

John Borojević 

Chair  

Canoe Tasmania 
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Canoeing Victoria 
2015-16 saw the organisation in a holding pattern for much 

of the year due to the change in the Victorian Government.  

Funding was under review as they examined their objectives 

and budgets.  While the end result was consistent funding 

support compared to previous years, it did have an effect on 

taking on new initiatives, developing existing products and 

generally an unsure financial future during the year. 

The start of the year was very focused on supporting both 

the clubs and the members with the new online membership 

and understanding the new processes surrounding the 

system.  Many clubs took up the opportunity to streamline 

their registrations with the idea of both reducing the club 

administration overheads as well as simplifying it for the 

individual member.  Many hours were spent to support a 

transition to the system and we look forward to it meeting 

the needs for more clubs in the future. 

With the unsure funding and the investment in initiatives 

such as the education review, social media and the junior 

development program the board originally endorsed an 

administration investment budget loss of up to $50,000.  

With funding secured and a redefined set of objectives, the 

resulting accounts now show a deficit of $5,600.  The New 

Year however will budget a substantial loss as we invest in 

the Westerfolds development project. 

The year also saw Andrea Boothroyd resign from the 

Executive Officer position as of February after nearly 14 

years with Canoeing Victoria in various roles.  Andrea left to 

take a well earned sabbatical and greener pastures and left 

a legacy of strong policy and procedures, strong 

relationships with funding organisations such as Vichealth, 

Sport and Recreation Victoria, other Victorian and Federal 

Government agencies and strong financial management.  

The new Executive Officer, Mark Heggie will take the reins in 

the new financial year and we look forward to his experience 

both as a paddler and in small business to support the 

pursuits of paddlers as a whole and of the sport in general. 

We also welcomed two new clubs to the organisation, 

Barwon Heads Canoe Club and Bellarine Paddlers Inc and 

said farewell to a very small club – Templestowe canoe club.  

The New Year will see a strong focus on club support to help 

clubs deliver quality membership services and support and 

assist clubs interested in diversifying their services including 

more of the recreational paddling opportunities. 

Events 

With no major events such as National championships in any 

disciplines run in Victoria this year, the disciplines 

concentrated on the normal yearly calendar of events.  

While most disciplines have a core group of volunteers 

enabling the events to be delivered, all are struggling with 

volunteers on the ground.  Sprint is particularly struggling 

with only the Victorian Championships being held and 2 

other races for the year. 

The Board recognises this as an issue for the discipline and is 

working on finding a solution to reinvigorate sprint in 

particular but to also support all disciplines to grow their 

particular sector. 

2015-16 Initiatives 

Paddlehub at Lake Lillydale 

Canoeing Victoria was successful in receiving support from 

Vichealth to pilot a program of delivering a variety of 

recreational paddling activities at Lake Lillydale under the 

banner of Paddlehub.  A very successful program of activities 

were delivered in the Spring with many learning outcomes 

including marketing strategies, delivery and evolving 

partnerships resulted in securing further support from 

Vichealth for the next 2 years.    This support will see a full 

calendar of summer activities offered at the Lake including 

Canoe Polo, Womens’ paddles, discipline demonstrations, 

drop in paddles, games days for the kids and many other 

recreational opportunities to encourage boat owners to 

participate. 

The objective of the program is to create a model to increase 

the demand for kayaking activities at under utilised 

waterways, providing the evidence to secure future 

infrastructure from the local authorities and seek alliances 

and partnerships with other organisations to ensure 

sustainability and a long term legacy remains.   

The learnings on how to increase this demand and become 

sustainable can then be taken to other waterways and 

circumstances to benefit kayaking as a whole in Victoria. 

In addition to focusing on Lake Lillydale, a mobile Paddlehub 

scenario has been investigated to widen the paddling 

opportunities to an increased number of communities.  This 

will be continued to investigated and piloted in the next 

phase of the program. 
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Womens Participation Initiative 

Women still remain as a high priority for the Canoeing 

Victoria Board and members with the adoption of the 

gender equity clause including in the new constitution which 

was adopted in October 2015.   

While River Rambles stalled a little during the year due to 

demands on resources, it is envisaged that this will be re-

invigorated into the New Year, supporting opportunities for 

women to lead in the paddle workforce as well as providing 

opportunities to participate in all aspects of the sport. 

Junior Development Program 

The state junior development program is now starting to 

reap rewards with a steady increase of juniors within the 

members particularly notable in the clubs that have 

embraced the development program.  With a number of 

clubs delivering the holiday programs during both the 

summer and Easter holidays plus the weekly skills program 

being delivered during the term, we have a great product to 

engage and retain the future paddlers in the sport both in 

the competition arena as well as recreationally. 

The program is also a great catalyst to kick start paddling in 

areas with no existing clubs evident at Lilydale and 

Warburton opening up opportunities to get new clubs 

operational.  It is a key component to the Paddlehub concept 

being supported by Vichealth. 

With other opportunities to deliver within the state we look 

forward to seeing the junior development and pathway go 

from strength to strength in the future. 

Performance Pathway 

It was great to see the support from Australian Canoeing in 

the form of Michael Hudson supporting the pathways 

program in Victoria.  Michael has been very active in both 

the delivery of some of the events as well as providing 

support for athletes and programs. 

Community Participation Initiatives 

2015-16 saw the completion of  our community participation 

programs with the completion of the Mildura story which is 

an overview and case study of how paddling activities and 

the up-skilling of community  leaders has had such a positive 

impact on the Aboriginal communities.  

Education  

This year saw the review of the processes, procedures and 

risk management around the delivery of our education 

programs.  This resulted in developing improved programs 

and a clearer understanding of our products, people and 

processes. 

While we still delivered programs to schools, the general 

public and the recreation industry our review also focused 

on the business model, the products and the competition in 

the industry.  As a result new products and services were 

modeled with the objective to either increase the delivery of 

services or increase the organisations revenue. 

As we have seen a declining trend over a number of years in 

the demand for ACAS courses in Victoria, coupled with a very 

tight competitive market delivering experience based 

programs in the recreation industry, the overall result is a 

reduced income stream generated from the education 

department.  2016-17 will therefore focus on promoting and 

delivering the products that are unique from our 

organisation which still enable a continued exposure to 

paddling and our organisation in the recreation, public and 

schools arena, but also can reinvigorate the income from the 

education area as well as retain the expertise within the 

office. 

Education was represented at ACHPER (Australian Council 

for Health, Physical Education and Recreation – a teaching 

professional organization) and the Outdoors Victoria 

Education conference during the year with both seen as key 

organizations to expose the organization and promote the 

value of properly trained deliverers and the activity of 

paddling in general. 
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Education was also successful in receiving funding from the 

Play it Safe by the Water committee to improve the safety 

messages around paddling activities.  To this end, our 

business manager has been working on collating the 

messages around paddling activities.  To this end, our 

business manager has been working on collating the 

scattered safety messages and Victorian specific legislation 

and examining the best method to promote these to the 

general public.  This ties in very nicely with the recently 

published PaddleSafe app that was developed by Australian 

Canoeing. 

Facility Initiatives 

Spring boarding from the facility strategic plan that was 

developed in 2014-15, the City of Manningham in 

partnership with Canoeing Victoria has been successful in 

receiving support from Sport and Recreation Victoria to 

move forward and plan the development of a Regional 

Sports Centre at Westerfolds Park.  Stakeholder meetings 

have already been held which was quite an achievement, 

considering the number of stakeholders involved.  Along 

with the newly opened Regional Paddlesports centre in 

Geelong these developments will be key to the development 

of the sport into the future. 

The Executive and the slalom discipline continued to pursue 

opportunities for a pumped whitewater facility in Victoria to 

support slalom and whitewater competition, training, 

education and skill development.  While none have yet come 

to fruition, our focus on this important facility will continue. 

Sharon Swoboda 

Acting Executive Officer 

Canoeing Victoria
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Canoeing Western Australia
This year we have had several events that we have not had 

before in a long time or ever before that bought together the 

WA paddling community together as never before. 

Vale Susan Quick 

Sadly in January 2016 a well-known female paddler Susan 

Quick lost her life in a paddling incident on the Blackwood 

River, WA had not had a paddling tragedy since the early 80’s 

this had a massive impact on our very close paddling. 

50TH Anniversary  

Then on a much brighter note Canoeing WA (CWA) 

celebrated our 50th Anniversary on the 20 February with a 

fantastic function overlooking the Swan River with an 

amazing mix of both current and past members, with a great 

deal of memorabilia on display that proved fascinating to all 

that attended.  With live music, good food, wine and the 

option to stay overnight everyone had a wonderful time. 

On the night we made special mention of all of our Life 

Members and presented the Life Members that had never 

received a life member badge, which was very well received. 

Unite On The Swan 

On the 10 April CWA ran the Unite on the Swan, which had 

a double purpose, one was to get the most amount of paddle 

craft rafted up on the Swan River, we had over 300 craft 

come together that day which was fantastic. 

We also gave all funds raised to the Lord Mayor’s Distress 

Appeal for the recent devastating fires in the South-west of 

WA, where over 94 homes were lost to the fire, we were able 

to make a $7,000.00 donation to the appeal. 

Membership 

This year up until the date of the report being done our 

membership stands at 2235, the major categories are males 

985; females 625; 416 juniors; 57 volunteers and 695 Paddle 

Academy and participants that aren’t are members but have 

done our CWA events. 

Clubs 

Three of the Clubs are regional and the other nine are in the 

metropolitan area, all the Clubs are very proactive in 

different areas of paddling being recreational, competitive 

or both, and covering all the different disciplines. 

We are currently looking at starting up a new club in Bunbury 

which is major country town 2.5 hours south of Perth. 

Volunteers 

In WA we are absolutely blessed with our volunteers, not 

only do they work so hard within their own clubs and 

disciplines, but they are also on-call for any of our CWA 

Events. 

I really cannot speak highly enough of these amazing people 

that make our life in the CWA office so much easier. 

Disciplines  

We are very fortunate here in Western Australia to have 

such active Committees:  Marathon; Slalom; Ocean Racing; 

Sprint, Wildwater, Sea Kayak and Canoe Polo all run amazing 

series/events over the year. 

Between all the disciplines they run approximately fifty (50) 

events which are well supported by all CWA members and 

the wider paddling community. 

Sea Kayak run a very successful and informative symposium 

in February each year in Albany which has some amazing 

coast line to paddle and enjoy, which is open to all members, 

the only requirement is that you paddle a sea kayak. 

Juniors 

Six of our Clubs cater for juniors, our juniors start off in a 

Guppy boat, which is a craft that has been specifically 

designed for under 12 year old children, once they master 

this craft with good paddle technique they then move up to 

a K1. 

Education 

Currently we work with eighteen (18) schools and several 

government organisations, the number of schools equate to 

467 students, with the schools offer both flat water and 

whitewater sessions. The whitewater sessions are held on 

the Avon and the Murray Rivers. 

This last year we have run a Flatwater Coaching Course, two 

Flatwater Instructor Courses and by the time this goes to 

print we will have run a Level 1 Whitewater Coaching Course. 
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Instructors  

Our Instructors that we employ for our Paddle Academy are 

very experienced paddlers and we are very fortunate to have 

such a great team teaching our young people about our 

wonderful sport. 

High Performance 

This year we have had three WA paddlers selected for the Rio 

Olympics, they are all sprint paddlers and we wish them the 

very best. 

Over the past year we have had some exceptional results 

from our athletes competing nationally and internationally, 

with 33 athletes representing Australia in Sprint, Slalom, 

Wildwater, Ocean Paddling, Freestyle and Marathon. 

Western Australia also had five juniors selected for Olympic 

Hopes and 12 slalom paddlers selected to the National Talent 

Squad the future of our sport in the Olympic disciplines are 

looking very good for the State of Western Australia.   

National Sprint Championships 

The National Sprint Championships were held in WA at 

Champion Lakes in March of this year, it was a very well 

supported regatta with 281 athletes competing from around 

Australia, and over the five (5) days 277 events were run 

which was a mammoth task. 

A great team of officials came from South Australia that we 

could not have done without, the newly formed Sprint 

Committee learnt a great deal and would like to have another 

regatta in the near future here in WA so they can put into 

practice what they gleaned over the week of the regatta. 

National Slalom Championships – Co-

hosted 

The 2016 event was the first occasion where two state 

canoeing associations joined to form the organising 

committee to make the host agreement with Australian 

Canoeing.  

Canoe Tasmania has successfully hosted the National 

competitions on many occasions, their expertise was a great 

opportunity for CWA to gain experience in this role while 

CWA was able to provide additional manpower to fulfil the 

range of duties needed to effectively manage a very 

successful campaign. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CWA Events 

CWA run five events through the year not only for our 

members but for the general paddling community who at 

this stage are not our members. 

Our Board 

Our Board consists of seven (7) members, five (5) elected 

and two (2) independent, we currently have three (3) 

females and four (4) male members. All Board Members are 

very hands-on, volunteering at events if they are not 

competing. 

So once again a very full and rewarding year. 

Rosalie Evans (JP) 

Executive Officer 

Canoeing Western Australia  
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PaddleNSW

PaddleNSW has continued its growth and range of activities 

this year, and is pleased to remain in a sound financial 

position given the additional projects it has undertaken. 

The membership process is becoming smoother for both 

new and renewing members, and several clubs have now 

implemented combined Club/PNSW membership 

registrations. Those remaining are still waiting on final 

development of the process to include some of their own 

special needs. 

The proposed joint AC/State pathways officer created an 

impetus for PaddleNSW to go it alone and engage a 

development officer on a part time basis. We are pleased to 

have had the services of Jo Brigden-Jones in this role, which 

she fitted in between preparations for Olympics Selection 

trials.  

The short lead-up time for the establishment of junior 

paddling courses resulted in some courses not being 

announced early enough, and so were under-subscribed. 

The primary problem still remains the conversion of these 

newcomers to become regular club paddlers. 

PaddleNSW purchased a fleet of SOT’s for the junior courses, 

which have worked out well as introductory craft. 

 All paddlesports within PaddleNSW have experienced 

growth in 2015-6, though our recreational programme is still 

in need of further development. The complex problem of 

placing recreational paddling events within an existing well-

supplied commercial recreational market, thereby providing 

appropriate events while not disenfranchising commercial 

operators, is one challenge. This is a major focus for 

PaddleNSW, as we recognise that recreational paddlers are 

by far the largest interest group within our paddling 

community. While our competitive paddlesport participants 

are happy to contribute to their events through entry fees 

and volunteering, there is less incentive for recreational 

paddlers to sustain their organised activities financially, or to 

contribute in other ways such as volunteering. 

PNSW has dropped the ‘technical’ terminology from our 

paddlesport committees in order to reduce the perceived 

barriers to volunteering for these committees.  

The Marathon Committee has undergone a major change 

this year with the retirement of firstly Gaye Hatfield and the 

impending retirement of Bob Turner, who has been actively 

involved in the National Marathon Committee as well. But 

willing hands have stepped up to fill the void. Marathon is 

increasingly popular with close to 200 paddlers attending 

each of our 9 rounds in the series. Our first division, 

previously languishing at an average five paddlers, now has 

up to 15 national class paddlers battling it out each round, 

while the introduction of a 5km event has lured many new 

paddlers into marathon.  

The Sprint Committee is making great progress taking the 

sport to the paddlers, by holding rounds of the sprint series 

in various club home waters as well as at the SIRC facility. 

Once again, the divisional concept of the series has proved 

popular with resultant close racing. 

Slalom is looking further afield than Penrith Whitewater 

Stadium with the recent refurbishment of the Glenbawn 

Dam course, host to the 2017 National Schools 

Championships.  

Freestyle and Canoe Polo have very active committees, and 

both can report increased participation. The earlier support 

of the Canoe Polo Committee with the provision of five new 

polo boats has created easy pathways for new paddlers into 

the sport. Suitable venues have been difficult to find, but the 

committee seems to have a knack for negotiation and 

though the competition has changed venue and night, 

participation is still keen.
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Open Water Racing has had its share of achievements as 

well. The committee manages two different racing series, 

the Harbour Series, in protected waters, and the Ocean 

Series, held offshore. The current 6-round Harbour Series 

attracted record numbers of paddlers. Instant results sent to 

paddlers via SMS has really helped to engage participants, 

and the series is relatively easy to manage. The two PNSW 

IRB safety boats have allowed clubs to host rounds with less 

effort trying to secure suitable safety craft. They are hired 

out per event at break-even cost. However, the Open Water 

series has been fraught with difficulties, as it is co-hosted 

with Lifesaving Clubs, who are an essential component of 

these events with their off-shore water safety. The vexed 

issue of membership of our association has created 

managerial and insurance dilemmas that are still unresolved 

for the combined PNSW and SLSC participation. This has an 

effect on the running of NSW Premier Ocean Race, the 20 

Beaches, which stands as a prime candidate for the 

Australian Ocean Racing Championships event. While the 

future of the remainder of the 6-round series is under 

consideration, the 20 Beaches is the feature event of NSW 

Ocean Racing and every effort is being made to continue our 

involvement with it. 

Due to the tireless work of board member Lynn Parker, our 

education courses are regular and well attended. 

Instructors, Guides, Swift Water Rescue, and Packrafting 

courses amongst others. There is a need for more paddlers 

to receive the basic training required for presenting the new 

PaddleOz and Paddle Power programmes currently 

embraced by PaddleNSW. Once again, reward for effort is 

the key. 

Our coaching courses have been more difficult to maintain, 

as most attendees are simply there to improve their own 

knowledge base. Converting these paddlers to becoming 

certified coaches and retaining them remains the challenge, 

as there are few venues with suitable coaching facilities for 

regular coaching squads to be established. Without an 

existing coaching structure to provide the incentive, many 

paddlers find the process too onerous to take those extra 

few steps to achieving their certification.  

PaddleNSW is also serious about promoting our sport to the 

wider public. With attention focused on the Olympics this 

year, we hope to piggyback off that awareness by engaging 

our best Slalom and Sprint paddlers in an exhibition one-on-

one competition in the heart of Parramatta CBD. Taking a 

leaf from overseas events, this will be a fast and exciting 

spectacle that should draw large crowds. It is a work in 

progress, so no promises yet, but this goes to show the level 

of commitment of the Board to mainstream promotion of 

the paddlesports.  

Tony Hystek  

Chair 

PaddleNSW
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Queensland Canoeing 
Queensland Canoeing is continually evolving with new 

challenges and demands.  The resilience of the volunteers 

and staff is testimony to their dedication and 

professionalism in the endeavour to achieve the best 

possible for the members and organisation as a whole. 

This year started with a bang and it has not relaxed.  The first 

item on the agenda was to appoint a new Executive Officer. 

A process that is not easy. Greg Denny was ultimately 

appointed and commenced in the role at Queensland 

Canoeing in September 2015.  Greg comes to the 

organisation after working many years with the Australian 

Rugby Union.  Greg holds much knowledge and respect in 

sports administration.  Greg’s eyes have been opened to 

sporting organisation that has multiple disciplines and is a 

sport and a recreation. 

I must acknowledge the efforts of Phil Pegg who fill the role 

of Interim Executive Officer from July to September 2015 

and Michelle Scoccimarro who was the font of knowledge of 

all things canoeing during significant change in the 

Queensland Canoeing office. 

The Queensland Canoeing Board has introduced Audit and 

Risk, and Strategic Planning sub-committees identifying 

board priorities and assist with managing workloads of 

Directors.  The sub-committees meet in the alternate month 

to Board meetings and the chair of the sub-committee may 

invite members external to the board to assist with the tasks.  

Strategic Plan  

This year has been vital for the future strategic planning of 

Queensland Canoeing.  Lead by Allana Bold sub-committee 

Chair, a strategic planning forum was held with club 

representatives, council representatives and stakeholders.  

A summary of outcomes from the forum, along with an 

online survey to capture feedback, was circulated to club 

committees, and further targeted feedback was gained 

through several club focus groups and consultations. 

Queensland Canoeing will continue to consult, discuss and 

work with clubs, committees, stakeholders and partners to 

roll out the 2017-2019 Strategic Plan to ensure paddlesports 

in Queensland is in the best position to grow and prosper. 

It has been identified that the Strategic Plan will be 

streamlined to 4 key strategic pillars –  

 Participation,  

 Places,  

 People, and  

 Pathways. 

These are supported by 3 underlying strategic principles – 

 Quality Governance,  

 Stakeholders/Partnerships, and  

 Communication and Engagement.  

To achieve our objectives, we will be working closely with 

our committees, clubs/members and stakeholders/ partners 

to achieve our vision of 'More People Paddling, More of the 

time!' 

Disciplines 

Our technical committee’s and their volunteers should be 

congratulated on their enthusiasm, commitment and 

contribution to their respective disciplines. The resurgence 

of active committees for our competitive disciplines of 

marathon, sprint, and canoe polo, and technical 

representative for ocean racing has ensured progress has 

been made to improve our planning, provide more high 

quality events, deliver more coach and officials training, and 

further develop paddlers through state training camps and 

state teams.  

While good progress has been made, we recognise there is 

indeed a lot more to be achieved for each of the respective 

disciplines. We have committed to regular inter-disciplinary 

meetings (between all disciplines) to ensure the continuing 

sharing of ideas, coordination (of event calendars) and 

communication between disciplines and Queensland 

Canoeing.  Moving forward, we would like to re-establish the 

recreation committee for our non-competitive paddlers, 

which represent a core and growing market within our 

membership and sport. 

A special thanks to Lynwen Birch, Chair of the Canoe 

Marathon Technical Committee and S’Tfan Horne, Chair of 

the Canoe Sprint Technical Committee who both stepped 

down from their roles during the year.  I would also like to 

acknowledge Donald Leigh, Chair of Canoe Polo Technical 

Committee and welcome Matt Ingerman, as Chair, of the 

Canoe Sprint Technical Committee. 

National Championships 

At the beginning of 2016 two technical committees were 

working hard organising the 2016 Australian Canoe 

Marathon Championships and the 2016 Australian Canoe 

Polo Championships.  The 2016 Australian Canoe Marathon 

Championships was one of the most successful with record 

number of participants, whilst the 2016 Australian Canoe 

Polo Championships were acknowledged as an 
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outstandingly run event.  Both events attracted sponsorship 

from the Gold Coast City Council for which we are very 

grateful. 

Clubs 

Club membership remains a challenge for many of our clubs, 

however the numerous activities and events conducted 

across the 28 affiliated clubs show that participation within 

the paddling community is as strong as ever. Recreation 

paddling continues to create increasing interest and 

memberships in many clubs, while the competition pursuits 

of canoe marathon, canoe sprint and canoe polo remain 

extremely active and strong within our clubs.  

Members 

Membership for 2015-16 season was 1,144 members and 

this has decreased this season with the removal of short-

term (3 month) membership option. Membership is 

comprised of over 80% senior members and overall gender 

distribution of 65% male and 35% female. Queensland 

Canoeing will continue to work with our affiliates to address 

issues of challenging traditional membership offerings. 

Awards 

Queensland Canoeing members swept the Australian 

Canoeing Annual Awards held on Saturday 14 November 

2015 at Rowers on Cook, Sydney. Queenslanders collected a 

swag of awards, including:   

Coach of the Year: Andrea King (Varsity Lakes Paddlers Club) 

Instructor and Guide of the Year: Brian 

McCarthy(Queensland Sea Kayak Club) 

Paracanoeist of the Year: Curtis McGrath (Varsity Lakes 

Paddlers Club) 

Team of the Year: Ken Wallace (Currumbin Creek Paddlers 

Club) and Lachlan Tame (Paddle NSW) 

Service to Canoeing Award: Ian & Julie Frost (Varsity Lakes) 

& Shane Dalziel (Kawana Canoe Club) 

Award of Merit: Susan Seipel (Brisbane Canoeing Club) and 

Ken Wallace (Currumbin Creek Paddlers) 

High Performance, Rio Olympics and 

Paralympics 

Our performance athletes continue to lead the way 

nationally with a large contingent of Queenslanders selected 

in Australian Senior and Junior teams across multiple 

disciplines, including those selected to represent Australia 

for the 2016 Olympics and 2016 Paralympic Games. 

A big congratulation to the six Queenslanders selected to 

represent Australia at the 2016 Olympic Games, including 

Alyce Burnett, Alyssa Bull, Ken Wallace, Jacob Clear, Jordan 

Wood & Martin Marinov, and the two Queensland 

paralympic athletes Curtis McGrath and Susan Seipel 

selected for the Australian Paralympic Team, supported by 

Andrea King, Australian Head Coach for Paracanoe. 
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Some facts and figures for 2015/2016: 

 Number of clubs – 28; 

 Membership – 1,144 (decrease of 272); 

 Monthly e-newsletter distribution – 4500+ 

 Facebook Likes - 4170+; and 

 Website hits – 66,500+ 

Queensland Canoeing continues to work 

closely with 

 Queensland Government - National Parks, Sport and Racing; 

 QSport - The Sports Federation of Queensland; 

 Queensland Outdoor Recreation Federation (QORF); 

 Australian Canoeing; and 

 All Queensland Canoeing Clubs. 

Thanks to our staff 

 Greg Denny (Executive Officer); 

 Michelle Scoccimarro (Events and Operations);  

 Steve Rowland (Education and Recreation); and 

 Our many instructors/guides and assessors. 

Further thanks to the QC Board of Directors 

 Jeremy Dunn (President); 

 Phil Pegg (Treasurer) 

 Allan Satterthwaite (Vice-President – until 25 October 2015) 

 Mark Mustchin (Interested Director)  

 Peter Cooke (Interested Director) 

 Judith Holmes (Independent Director – until 22 October 

2015) 

 Susan Mercer (Independent Director – until 12 November 

2015) 

 Allana Bold (Independent Director – from 03 February 2016) 

 Leigh McBean (Independent Director –from 29 March 2016) 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Queensland Government 

for guidance and support of representatives from Department of 

National Parks, Sport and Racing throughout the year. 

 

Jerry Dunn 

President 

Queensland Canoeing 

 



- 31 - 
 

Our Performance 
Olympic High Performance
 

Canoe Sprint 

2016 Paracanoe World Championships (19th 

– 21st May) Duisburg, Germany. 

Dylan Littlehales (KL3 Men) and Jocelyn Nuemueller (KL1 

Women) qualified spots for the 2016 Rio Paralympic Games.  

KL1 Men – Colin Sieders - 13th 

KL1 Women – Jocelyn Nuemueller - 8th 

KL2 Men – Curtis McGrath - 1st (Gold) 

KL2 Women – Susan Seipel  - 3rd (Bronze) 

KL3 Men – Dylan Littlehales - 11th 

KL3 Women – Amanda Reynolds - 2nd (Silver) 

 

2015 Canoe Sprint World Championships 

(19th – 23rd August) Milan, Italy. 

Ken Wallace and Lachlan Tame won Silver in the K2 

continuing on from their successful World Cup Series in 

which they claimed medals at each of the three World Cups. 

A new-look K4 including London gold-medallists Jacob Clear 

and David Smith teamed with young talents Jordan Wood 

and Riley Fitzsimmons (U23 K2 1000m world champions) to 

narrowly miss a medal by less than 0.05 seconds, taking 4th 

and comfortably earning another four quota places for the 

team. Murray Stewart turned his sole focus to the K1 where 

he was 6th in a competitive final ensuring a 7th Men’s kayak 

quota for Rio. 

After a promising World Cup series, our K4 women (Jo 

Brigden Jones, Naomi Flood, Alana Nicholls & Bernadette 

Wallace) narrowly missed the win in the B Final, finishing just 

0.08 seconds behind the Danish crew and ultimately missing 

a crucial opportunity to directly qualify further Olympic 

quota places.  

The young K2 pairing of Alyce Burnett & Alyssa Bull were on 

track with a 7th in the B final finishing 13th overall, before 

Alyce Burnett backed up in the K1W 200m C final to finish 

27th from a field of 40. 

Results – Olympic events 
K1M 1000 – Murray Stewart -6th 

K2M 1000 – Ken Wallace/ Lachlan Tame - 3rd (Bronze) 

K4M 1000 – David Smith/ Riley Fitzsimmons/ Jordan Wood/ 

Jacob Clear -4th 

K1M 200 – Steve Bird - 17th  

K2M 200 – Jesse Phillips/ Steve Bird - 13th 

C1M 1000 – Marius Florian - 30th  

K1W 200 – Alyce Burnett - 25th 

K2W 500 – Alyce Burnett/ Alyssa Bull - 16th 

K4W 500 - Alana Nicholls/ Jo Brigden-Jones / Bernadette 

Wallace/ Naomi Flood - 11th 

Results – Non-Olympic events 
K2M 500 – Ken Wallace/ Lachlan Tame - 1st (Gold) 

K1M 5000 – Ken Wallace - 1st (Gold) 

C1M 500 – Marius Florian - 8th  

C1M 5000 – Marius Florian  - 21st  

 

2015 Paracanoe World Championships (19th 

– 23rd August) Milan, Italy  

The 7-strong Paracanoe team concluded the Championships 

with a 5-medal haul, 3 Paralympic quota places and were 

crowned top Para nation in an impressive performance that 

exceeded expectations.  

Curtis McGrath claimed Silver and picked up a KL2M quota 

after having recently switched his focus to the kayak 

following the re classification of Paralympic events. He 

claimed Gold in the V1 maintaining his 2014 Va’a world 

champion title.  
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Amanda Reynolds improved on her 2014 Bronze to claim 

Gold in the Women’s KL3 class and earned a 2016 Paralympic 

quota. Susan Seipel exceeded expectations with a Bronze 

and quota place in the Women’s KL2 class before replicating 

McGrath’s performance and claiming Gold in the Non-

Paralympic Va’a final.  

Colin Sieders managed to retain his KL1 classification, 

however was unable to produce the Top 6 finish required for 

another quota place, finishing 9th in the final. Newcomers 

Sam Germain and Dylan Littlehales gained experience in the 

Men’s KL2 where Germain was 27th and 15 year old 

Littlehales finished in 17th after racing his first Para event in 

April this year. 

2016 World Cup Medals 

World Cup 1 (Duisburg, Germany) 
K1W 200 – Alyce Burnett / Alyssa Bull - 3rd  

K1W 5000 – Alyssa Bull - 3rd 

K4M 1000 – Kenny Wallace/ Riley Fitzsimmons/Jordan 

Wood/ Jacob Clear - 1st  

K1M 5000 – Kenny Wallace - 1st 

World Cup 2 (Racice, Czech Republic) 
K4M 1000 – Kenny Wallace/ Riley Fitzsimmons/ Jordan 

Wood/ Jacob Clear - 2nd 

K2M 1000 – Kenny Wallace/ Lachlan Tame - 2nd 

K1M 5000 – Kenny Wallace - 1st 

World Cup 3 – (Montemor- o-Velho, Portugal) 
K4M 1000 – Kenny Wallace/ Riley Fitzsimmons/ Jordan 

Wood/ Jacob Clear - 2nd 

K2M 1000 – Jordan Wood/ Riley Fitzsimmons - 3rd 

K2M 1000 – Kenny Wallace/ Lachlan Tame – 2nd  

 

 

2015 Canoe Sprint Junior and U23 World 

Championships (23rd – 27th August) 

Montemor-o-Velho, Portugal 

Held in Montemor-o-Velho, Portugal from the 23rd-27th 

August, 2015 with a strong showing from the U23 squad with 

a 6th place ranking internationally. Riley Fitzsimmons and 

Jordan Wood claimed Gold in the K2M 1000m, while Bill Bain 

finished 2nd in the K1M 1000.  The K4 of Joel McKitterick, Jy 

Duffy, Riley Fitzsimmons and Jordan Wood finished a close 

4th. The women also impressed, with a Bronze from 

Catherine McArthur in the K1W 500 and for eventual 

Olympians Alyssa Bull and Alyce Burnett in the K2W 500. 

The Junior team had three athletes/crews achieve A Final 

births, with Oliver James finishing 7th in the K1M 1000, Ella 

Beere also finishing 7th in the K1W 200 and the K4 of 

Francesca Kidd, Ruby Backen, Yale Steinepreis and Rachel 

Duncan finishing 8th. 
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Results – U23 
K2M 1000 – Riley Fitzsimmons/ Jordan Wood – 1st (Gold) 

K1M 1000 – Bill Bain – 2nd (Silver) 

K1W 500 – Catherine McArthur – 3rd (Bronze) 

K2W 500 – Alyssa Bull / Alyce Burnett – 3rd (Bronze) 

K4M 1000 – Joel McKitterick/ Jy Duffy/ Riley Fitzsimmons/ 

Jordan Wood – 4th  

K4W 500 – Catherine McArthur/ Rebecca Mann/ Brianna 

Massie/ Shannon Reynolds – 6th 

K2M 200 – Callum Dunn/ Ben McLean – 12th  

K1M 200 – Robert McIntyre – 20th  

K1W 200 – Brianna Massie –7th 

Results – Juniors 
K1M 1000 – Oliver James – 7th 

K1W 200 – Ella Beere – 7th 

K4W 500 – Francesca Kidd/ Ruby Backen/ Yale Steinepreis/ 

Rachel Duncan – 8th 

K1W 500 – Francesca Kidd – 11th 

K2W 500 – Keily Dober/ Cailtin Burt-Poloai – 15th 

C1M 200 – Charlie Ellis – 18th  

 

 

 

K1M 200 – Oliver James –7th 

C1M 1000 – Charlie Ellis –8th 

K4M 1000 – Joshua Jones-Rew/ Connor Buhk/ Ben 

Hutchinson/ Reece Bacchus –9th 

K2M 1000 – Luke Morton/ Ben Harris –8th 

C2M 1000 – Ben Keogh/ Jace Bayliss  – 9th 

 

2015 Olympic Hopes (25th – 27th 

September) Szeged, Poland  

28 athletes aged between 15 and 17 travelled to Poland. A 

Silver medal to Monique Carbone in the U16 K1W 200 and a 

Bronze medal to Tom Green in the U16 K1M 1000 were the 

highlights of a successful tour for the young teams. Green 

also medalled in the non-Olympic U16 K1 500, adding a Silver 

to his medal haul.  

Mackenzie Duffy proved to be one to watch, with an 8th 

place finish in the U15 K1W 500. In the U17 K4M 1000, Tom 

Green, Jakob Hammond, Fletcher Cunningham and George 

Rugless put in a good fight to finish 8th in the A Final. 
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Canoe Slalom 

2015 Canoe Slalom World Championships 

(16th – 20th September) Lee Valley, UK  

Jessica Fox finished in 4th place in the K1W, less than a 

second outside medal contention including a two second 

penalty. Fox finished the 2015 season ICF world ranked 

number 1 in K1 women and 3rd overall in the World Cup. In 

the C1W, Jessica Fox became the first female and third canoe 

slalom athlete ever to win three World Championships in 

succession. Fox beat the next competitor by 4.91 seconds in 

the event which the ICF will propose for inclusion in Tokyo 

2020. Alison Borrows also made the C1W final, finishing in 

8th place, while Rosalyn Lawrence finished 11th in the semi 

final.  

Jaxon Merritt performed well to finish 29th in the semi final 

of the K1M and 15th NOC. Merritt had qualified for the semi 

as 5th fastest. Lucien Delfour was unable to meet 

expectations set after results at the 2014 BME and in 2015 

World Cups, failing to go further than the heats stages and 

finishing 46th overall in the heats. Daniel Watkins was also 

unable to progress further than the heats on his debut at a 

Senior World Championships, finishing 55th.  

In the C1M Australia missed out on an Olympic quota, with 

Robin Jeffery the only paddler to reach the semi final 

finishing 23rd, after having qualified 9th in the heats. Kynan 

Maley and Ethan Hodson were unable to progress past the 

heats, finishing in 34th and 35th places respectively.  

Jessica Fox, Rosalyn Lawrence and Alison Borrows won 

Australia's second Gold of the event in the C1W teams event, 

less than a second ahead of the Czech Republic team in 

second. The three also teamed up for the K1W teams race, 

finishing in 7th place, while the C1M team of Jeffery, Maley 

and Hodson finished 10th and the K1M team of Delfour, 

Watkins and Merritt finished 21st.  

Results – Olympic Events 
K1W 

Jessica Fox – 4th 

Rosalyn Lawrence – 36th 

Alison Borrows – 56th 

K1M 

Jaxon Merritt – 29th  

Lucien Delfour – 46th 

Daniel Watkins – 55th 

C1M  

Robin Jeffery – 23rd 

Kynan Maley – 34th 

Ethan Hodson – 35th 

Results – Non-Olympic 
C1W 

Jessica Fox – 1st (Gold) 

Alison Borrows – 8th 

Rosalyn Lawrence (NSW) – 11th 

 

C1W Teams – Jessica Fox/ Alison Borrows/ Rosalyn Lawrence 

– 1st (Gold) 

K1W Teams - Jessica Fox/ Alison Borrows/ Rosalyn Lawrence 

– 7th 

K1M Teams –  Lucien Delfour/ Daniel Watkins/ Jaxon Merritt 

– 21st 

C1M Teams –  Robin Jeffery/ Ethan Hodson/ Kynan Maley – 

10th  

 2016 World Cup Medallists 

World Cup 1 – Ivrea, Italy 
C1W - Jessica Fox – 1st (Gold) 

K1W – Jessica Fox – 2nd (Silver) 

World Cup 2 – Seu, Spain 
K1W – Jessica Fox – 2nd (Silver) 

C1W - Noemie Fox – 3rd (Bronze) 

World Cup 3 – Pau, France 
C1W – Jessica Fox – 2nd (Silver)  

  

2016 Junior and U23 Canoe Slalom World 

Championships (12th – 17th July) Krakow, 

Poland 

Two individual Gold medals from Jessica Fox were 

outstanding and underlines Fox's dominance in C1W and 

K1W. Noemie Fox reached finals in C1W and K1W, showing 

strong improvement in her first year in the U23 category.  

In K1M, Daniel Watkins showed strong development and 

improved speed to reach the final, where a clean run would 

have put him on the Podium. Tim Anderson also had a 

performance that would have placed him in the final, 

however was disqualified in the semi for equipment 

compliance.  

The Junior team, excluding one athlete, was completely new 

to the international stage. Tristan Carter had previously 

shown his capabilities on the international stage, and 

progressed even further this season to reach the final where 

he unfortunately missed out on reaching the podium due to 

penalties.  
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U23 Team 

K1W 

Jessica Fox – 1st (Gold) 

Noemie Fox – 10th  

Georgia Rankin – 34th 

K1M 

Daniel Watkins – 5th 

Benjamin Pope – 30th  

Tim Anderson – 40th 

C1M 

Daniel Watkins – 18th 

Brodie Crawford – 42nd 

Steven Lowther – 58th 

C1W 

Jessica Fox – 1st (Gold) 

Noemie Fox – 7th 

Georgia Rankin – 19th 

C1W Team – Jessica Fox/ Noemie Fox/ Georgia Rankin – 3rd 

(Bronze) 

K1M Team – Tim Anderson/ Benjamin Pope/ Daniel Watkins 

– 5th 

C1M Team – Daniel Watkins/ Brodie Crawford/Steven 

Lowther – 10th 

K1W Team – Jessica Fox/ Noemie Fox/ Georgia Rankin – 14th  

 

Junior Team 

K1W 

Nina Mueller – 38th 

Alexandria Choate – 42st 

Kira Wall – 48th 

K1M 

Tristan Carter – 41st 

Tim Coward – 42nd  

Louis Richardson – 45th  

C1M 

Tristan Carter – 8th 

Tim Coward – 48th  

Lachlan Bassett – 50th  

C1W 

Alexandria Choate – 29th  

Billie Knell – 31st 

Kira Wall – 32nd  

C1W Team – Alexandra Choate/ Nina Mueller/ Kira Wall – 

11th  

K1M Team – Louis Richardson/ Tristan Carter/ Tim Coward – 

11th  

C1M Team – Lachlan Bassett/ Tim Coward/ Tristan Carter – 

10th  

K1W Team – Alexandra Choate/ Billie Knell/ Kira Wall – 6th  

 

 

 

 

Richard Fox 

National Performance Director 

Australian Canoeing Ltd
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Canoe Polo 
A year of success and change, canoe polo continues the 

excitement and challenge for players and supporters at all 

levels. Particularly at the youth and schools level, we are 

building new foundations for growth. 

Following an invitation from New Zealand, six of our 

brightest took the easy route over the Tasman to test their 

skills, meet NZ players and check out the sights. The 

Australian men’s youth development team toured New 

Zealand in Sep/Oct for twelve days travelling and playing. 

First stop was the Vampire factory to learn about boat design 

and manufacture. And generously, each player was 

presented with a distinctive black and green splash boat 

(Stralia model) tailored to suit. Many thanks Polomania for 

ongoing support and revealing the wizardry of boat design. 

Games in Auckland, Napier and Palmerston North followed. 

But a special treat was a three hour session with James 

Mitchell, captain of the NZ men’s team. The highlight was 

competing in the 2015 NZ Inter-Regional Championships at 

Wellington. Three days of competition saw Australia placed 

second against five NZ teams. In a tight final Australia 

ultimately took bronze. A fantastic effort!  

After a break of twenty years, it was good to see the 

Australian Canoe Polo Championships return to the Gold 

Coast in 2016. Our venue was the Miami Aquatic Centre on 

the Gold Coast, sponsored by the Gold Coast City 

Council. Twenty-eight teams competed in the categories of 

men, women, youth, juniors, masters and microjuniors. 

Showing the strength of the national competition, each of 

the competing states—Vic, SA, NSW, Qld, ACT—took gold 

home. The junior and microjunior categories continue to 

inspire but competition was strong across all categories. For 

the first time, an Australian Canoe Polo Championship 

Trophy was up for grabs. The intention being to recognise 

the best performing state at the championship. This 

inaugural year was won by Victoria, but South Australia, 

Queensland and the ACT were not far behind in the point 

count and are strong contenders for 2017. Many thanks Don 

Steel for designing and constructing a magnificent trophy, 

which has already done a roadshow around Victoria. 

The visiting women’s team from the Otaki club in New 

Zealand was a highlight of the competition. Decked out in 

distinctive purple colours, the team showed us just how 

much fun canoe polo can be; and how professional it is off 

the water. Australian and New Zealand teams continue to 

travel across the Tasman and join each other’s competitions 

to not only strengthen our sport, but more importantly, 

building friendships and rapport. Congratulations to 

everyone competing, officiating, assisting and spectating at 

the championship. An excellent job Queensland Canoeing! 

The 2017 Australian Canoe Polo Championships will be 

hosted by Victoria. 

 In a canoe polo first, the national technical committee and 

the chairperson from each state took part in a two day 

strategy workshop. The idea was to understand the position 

of canoe polo in each state and to share ideas, successes, 

and weaknesses so that everyone might benefit. Structured 

sessions worked through development, venues, funding, 

promotion, communications, performance, participation, 

coaching, refereeing and more. A lot of ground (water!) was 

covered. Important outcomes were a commitment to create 

a national schools competition, a structured approach to 

development, a new focus on winning sponsorship, and 

building a club competition. 

The schools are a critical opportunity for us. David Peters 

from the Brothers Canoe Club, Qld, leads the way with great 

success at Ambrose Treacy College. The college now has 

some sixty children in grades 4–8 enjoying canoe polo all 

year round as part of their PE program. In South Australia 

Scott Polley is working with the local schools and for several 

years, Tasmania has an established inter- school canoe polo 

competition.  

Showing the depth of talent and interest at the top end, 

twenty-one players nominated for the Australian mens team 

to compete at the 2016 ICF World Canoe Polo 

Championships, Italy. Necessarily, the squad was broken up 

into two training groups. As part of preparation, players 

competed in New Zealand and additional interstate players 

converged on Sydney to provide the final team with 

additional competitive games. Following selections, the 
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Australian’s mens team is: Salim Aljunad, James Deakin, 

Rowan Holt, Ian McIntosh, Andrew Merrifield, Steve Porter, 

Nathan Rosaguti, Robert Sims and Louie Wu. Matt Moore is  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

coach and John Moore manager. On behalf of canoe polo 

around Australia we wish the men’s every success in 

Sicily, a women’s team was not entered on this occasion. 

Duncan and Carolyn take a break! With many years as a 

players, coaches, referees and committee members,  

and everything else that goes into keeping canoe polo on 

the water, Duncan and Carolyn Cochrane have decided 

it’s time for a break. Duncan, especially, has placed 

Australia on the world stage, working with the ICF and 

leading our development. Work and family are to the 

fore with new commitments and interests. An inspiration 

to all of us, we wish Duncan and Carolyn every 

opportunity and success in their new adventures. 

A lot happening, and a lot to do—keep paddling! 

Ian Beasley 

Chair  

Canoe Polo Technical Committee 
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Canoe Slalom 
Canoe slalom has produced solid results for 2016. The 

International Canoe Federation ranked two of our senior 

team paddlers in the top 3, Jessica Fox, ranked number one 

in WK1 and WC1 and Lucien Delfour ranked 3rd in MK1 at the 

end of last year.  At the national level, many were excited to 

see the Australian Championships return to the popular 

Tasmanian venues and local development programmes are 

strengthening the sport at the State level. 

The 2016 Australian Schools and National Canoe Slalom and 

Wildwater Championship events were the first occasion for 

a co-hosting arrangement between 2 states, Tasmania and 

Western Australia.  Manpower from Canoeing WA combined 

with Canoe Tasmania’s years of experience to successfully 

host the National competitions. Over 300 people travelled to 

Tasmania in January 2016 to compete or support the event. 

Participation numbers were similar to past years with 118 

athletes registered. This event proved to be a great draw-

card for the U23 class with a significant increase in numbers, 

28 in Tasmania compared to 17 in Victoria.  A challenging 

course at Mersey River and the opportunity for training at 

Brady’s Lake were likely factors. Junior participation was 

reduced, 53 athletes in 2016 compared to 79 in 2015. This is 

largely accounted for by the absence of the New Zealand 

team (in 2015 New Zealand brought a team of 19 junior 

athletes).  

The National Schools Championships Participation was 

reduced, 78 in 2016 compared to108 in 2015 (Eildon, 

Victoria). This was due to a combination of absence of New 

Zealand competitors and reduced size of schools teams 

though number of schools entering was unchanged. The 

reasons given were the cost involved in transporting team 

and boats to race sites, particularly when international 

flights to regional airports are involved as for the NZ team. 

Speculated reasons for reduced school team size are the 

timing of the event in the middle summer holidays.  Teachers 

are on leave at this time making it more difficult for schools 

to provide support for a team. 

The proportion of female participants was reduced, with 

37% in 2015 compared to 17% in 2016. The reason for this is 

not clear, at this time there is no evidence this represents a 

trend. We will follow this data closely in future events. 

Congratulations to individual National Schools Champion 

Trophy winners; 

Senior Female Whitewater Champion – Demelza Wall (WA) 

Senior Male Champion – Rohan Borojevic (Tas) 

Junior Female Champion – Alexandria Choate (WA) 

Junior Male Champion – Bradley McLaughlin (Vic) 

Also Congratulations to participating schools winning the 

following awards; 

Girls School Trophy – Ivanhoe Girls Grammar (Vic) 

Boys School Trophy - Ivanhoe Grammar (Vic) 

Overall Schools Trophy – Ivanhoe Grammar (Vic) 

Overall Small Schools Trophy - Churchlands Senior High 

(WA) 

 

The National Championship individual trophies were 

awarded to; 

Illawarra K1M - Ben Pope (WA) 

Illawarra K1W - Rosalyn Lawrence (NSW) 

Peter Grey C1M - Christian Fabris (Vic) 

Songberg / Nelson C2M - Alastair Anderson/Warwick Draper 

(Vic) 

Melbourne Canoe Club WC1 - Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Best Performing K1 Men Junior - Tristan Carter  (Vic) 

Best Performing K1 Women Junior - Nina Mueller (WA) 

The Judy Boocock C1M Junior - Tristan Carter (Vic) 

Best Performing C2 Men Junior - Ashley Hobbs / Tristan 

Carter (Vic) 

Best Performing C1 Women Junior - Alexandria Choate (WA) 

The following National Trophies were awarded to; 

States Team Points - Whitebrook Trophy – Western 

Australia 

Junior States Team Points - Galloway, Linden, Woodward 

Trophy – Western Australia 

Canoes Plus States Points – New South Wales 

ACAWA Club Trophy Points – Melbourne Canoe Club 

Heavy snow falls in in the 2015 Tasmanian winter caused 

extensive damage to the Mersey slalom course. The 

Tasmanian canoeing community with Parks and Wildlife 

Service of Tasmania worked to rehabilitate the area and 

prepare the course for the 2016 Championships. Sadly, days 

following completion of the 2016 event, the region was 

devastated by extensive bushfires through January and then 

again, by massive flooding in June. It will take substantial 

time for this valuable slalom competition and training site to 

be rebuilt. 

The selection events for Senior and Under 23 team were the 

Australian Open and Oceania, both held at the whitewater 

stadium in Penrith, NSW.  The Olympic team positions were 

hotly contested in all classes.   

Congratulations to athletes whose outstanding 
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performances gained them Olympic selection; 

Lucien Delfour, Men’s K1 

Ian Borrows, Men’s C1 

Jessica Fox, Women’s K1 

Some athletes gaining selection for the senior team declined 

their option, allowing an opportunity for developing athletes 

to participate at the World Cup events.  

Australian results at the first three of the World Cup Series 

are one gold, (J Fox WC1 WCS#1), three Silver (J Fox WK1 in 

WCS#1 & #2, WC1 WCS#3) and one Bronze (N Fox WC1 

WCS#2).  These results indicate a solid preparation for 

Jessica Fox in her Olympic campaign. 

A new class of slalom cross was introduced in this year’s 

World Cup series. Athletes compete in heats of 4 

competitors, starting together from a ramp and race through 

up to 6 gates and complete a roll within the kayak roll zone. 

The top two will move on until only four are left to compete 

in the final. Australian athletes ranked well in this class, MK1 

slalom cross 5th in WCS#1 and 2nd WCS#2 (J Merritt), and 

WK1 Slalom cross WCS#1 2nd and 4th (K Eckhardt and G 

Rankin) and WCS#2 2nd and 4th (G Rankin and N Fox)  

The Under 23 and Junior World Championships were held in 

Krakow, Poland in July. The best results for the Under 23 

team were Gold to Jessica Fox in Women’s K1 and C1; 5th 

place to Daniel Watkins in Men’s K1 and 18th place in Men’s 

C1; The women’s C1 teams event (Jessica Fox, Noemie Fox, 

Georgia Rankin) won Bronze.  The best results for the Junior 

team was Tristan Carter placing 8th in C1 Men’s Final.  Many 

of the athletes selected for the 2016 Junior Team were in the 

emerging athlete category. In light of their young age and 

several more years of competition at the junior level, 

participation in this event has been an excellent opportunity 

to develop the performance potential of this group. 

Peter Grant has retired this year as Chair of the AC Canoe 

Slalom Technical Committee, the new committee wish him 

well and extend our profound thanks for his years of working 

diligently in this role. 

The last twelve months have seen the National Pathways 

Manager, Melissa Hopward, leave AC.  Three National Elite 

Development Program (NEDP) Coordinators have been 

recruited to the pathways team, Michael Hudson, who 

services the South East Region (Victoria, Tasmania, South 

Australia) and Slalom, Glenn Pyne North East Region (New 

South Wales and Queensland) and Guy Power (Western 

Australia). NEDP Coordinators are responsible for creating 

and supporting environments that encourage young athletes 

to reach their full potential, prepare for international 

competition, and contribute toward AC’s Winning Edge 

targets in the Olympic paddling disciplines.  

Ian Beasley (Canoe Polo) has been recruited by AC to take up 

the major project of developing coaching frameworks. He 

has been in communication with me as the Chair of the 

Slalom National Technical Committee for development of 

specific aspects relating to slalom.  

Once again Canoe Slalom must acknowledge the enormous 

contribution made by Sue Natoli as a member of the 

International CSL Technical Committee. She has been senior 

official at the first three World Cups and Junior and U23 

World Championships in Krakow, Poland. She will be 

Assistant Chief Judge at the 2016 Olympic Games in Rio de 

Janeiro.  Christine Borrows was a gate judge at World Cups 1 

and 2. Graeme Caudry was a gate Judge at the Junior and 

U23 World Championships in Krakow, Poland with Marion 

Ewing available as substitute judge.  Peter Grant will be gate 

judge at the 2016 Olympic Games. 

An IJCSL program was run in conjunction with the 2016 

Oceania Championships. This programme was well attended 

by Australian and New Zealand candidates. All of the five 

Australian candidates were successful in attaining 

certification.   

Whitewater park development campaigns are continuing by 

State based committees in Western Australia and Victoria. 

Robin Jeffrey, elite C1 athlete has leant his support to the 

WA campaign with a strong positive effect. Wero 

Whitewater Park was opened in Auckland in April 2016. It is 

anticipated that this will attract a greater level of 

international competition and build development of canoe 

slalom in our region. It would be reasonable to expect the 

Auckland WWP to spur these Australian campaigns.  

A fantastic team of volunteers continues to support canoe 

slalom at the club, state and national levels. We extend our 

sincere thanks for their ongoing commitment. 
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2017 will see the National Schools Championships return 

to Glenbawn, NSW.  This venue has not been in use for 

over ten years but with the hard work of the NSW 

organising committee, lead by Chris Thompson and Colin 

Borrows, it should provide an excellent venue for this 

competition and provide an ideal grade of whitewater 

for developing slalom paddlers within NSW into the 

future. The 2017 Australian Championships will offer a 

high level of competition when they return to Penrith 

Whitewater Stadium. 

At the time of writing this we are looking forward to 

seeing the hard work of our selected athletes, their 

coaches and the support team involved in their 

preparation for the Olympic campaign pay off. 

Lucy Williams 

Chair  

Canoe Slalom Technical Committee 
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Canoe Sprint 

Once again we have had a great 12 months of competition 

culminating in the selection of our Olympic representatives 

and National teams for 2016. It is not for me but rather the 

High Performance Director Richard Fox to discuss the results 

and the merit of our athlete performances overseas, but 

needless to say that as the Committee responsible for 

providing the competition environment for the athletes in 

Australia, we are extremely proud of what they have 

achieved in Rio and indeed at World Championship level 

across the respective selected teams in the last 12 months. 

The conduct of the ICF Oceania Continental qualification 

event and first Australian Team Olympic selection event in 

South Australia was a highlight and it was particularly 

pleasing to be able to incorporate the involvement of New 

Zealand international technical officials in the delivery of the 

event. We have now established an excellent relationship 

between our respective technical committees and the 

opportunity for not only reciprocal athlete participation, but 

also officials’ participation, has well and truly been 

established. 

It would be remiss of me however not to present this report 

in the context of our ACSRTC strategic plan we prepared four 

years ago for the ongoing development and delivery of sprint 

canoeing and the competition program across Australia. At 

that time we anticipated it would lead to an increased 

interest in competition, increasing participation levels, 

introduction and enhancement of competition venues and 

increased officials development and participation in the 

management and delivery of regattas.   

There has been a level of improvement across a number of 

areas, and I believe a reinvigoration of the competition 

numbers in a number of States particularly NSW, SA and WA 

over the four year period but numbers overall are about the 

same level as the previous four years. 

South Australia continues to deliver a successful junior 

athlete feeder program into the national competition, and 

has also developed a pool of officials that now underpin the 

delivery of our national regatta program and also provide 

the local officials resources for events in South Australia. 

From a venue development perspective South Australia, like 

Western Australia, have now introduced the use of the 

pneumatic start gate system for national regattas with 

financial support from AC High Performance (ACHP) program 

funds and the cooperation of the Sydney International 

Regatta Centre (SIRC) staff who have permitted the 

contracted transport, installation and use of their gate 

systems in both South Australia and Western Australia. More 

secure start sheds have also been introduced in SA to reduce 

reliance on the barge based shed and the associated 

mobilisation / demobilisation of the start equipment each 

day.  

WA has also developed a keen pool of new officials who 

having delivered the 2016 National Championships and final 

Olympic selection events are keen to take the opportunity 

again in 2017/2018 before some of the younger athletes and 

their respective ‘parent’ officials potentially move out of the 

sport. Venue development has also continued in WA with an 

excellent relationship existing between Canoeing WA and 

the facility managers Venues West, resulting in $50,000 

spent on refurbishing the ‘Polaris’ start gate system, the 

introduction of concrete start pads and portable shelters to 

all start positions, and the recent purchase and manufacture 

of a mobile start trailer fully equipped with the necessary 

generator, compressor, start equipment etc to facilitate 

starts at each start line. 

NSW too has further developed its regular competition 

program and the NSW State Championships has become a 

4th event of preference for national squad members in the 

lead up to Grand Prix 2 and the National Championships.  

Committee member Laura White has continued to provide 

technical advice and officials support to the state regatta 

program in NSW and continues to develop local race officials 

whom we hope will form the basis of our national official’s 

pool when we conduct events at SIRC. 

NSW based and accredited canoe sprint International 

Technical Official (ITO) Fred Bahrami is also to be 

acknowledged for his appointment to his 4th Olympics as an 

International Canoe Federation ITO. 

In Queensland, the Gold Coast continues to be the base and 

centre for AC’s National Training Centre program. Jeremy 

Dunn remains a key catalyst for sprint competition in 

Queensland and always a committed official at national 

regattas. From a national perspective however local regatta 

venues in Queensland are yet to be optimally developed to 

a standard suitable for conduct of national regatta events 

and so we are yet to conduct a Grand Prix regatta at a 

Queensland venue.  

In Victoria with experienced personnel departures at State 

level, there has been a loss of local resources for the delivery 

of regattas and coaching programs and despite our technical 

committee support for a national initiative to develop 
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alternative courses in Australia, and the conduct of a Grand 

Prix at Lake Wendouree earlier in the quad, we still do not 

have a vigorous sprint program operating and the potential 

is clearly there for more to be done. 

The primary role of the Committee however continues to be 

the conduct and management of the Grand Prix and National 

Championship competition program across Australia.  

Nominally the Committee also addresses portfolio 

responsibilities outlined below as and when the need arises, 

and committee members are referred and encouraged to 

contribute to the dialogue in the respective areas when 

discussion, comments and decisions are sought by AC and or 

the sprint high performance unit.  

Committee members are also invited and participate in 

selection policy development, National team selection 

panels and contribute to technical input on performance 

aspects of the selection process and provide feedback on 

sprint developments at national and international level. We 

are also  actively engaged in ongoing pontoon developments 

at SIRC and in WA with event delivery facilities.  

I thank each of the Committee members and ex-officio event 

coordinators for their own personal time and technical 

contribution, and equally encourage other AC members and 

State Committees to discuss any concerns or issues with 

Committee should they need to progress issues at National 

level. 

The Committee and nominal portfolio responsibilities for 

2015/2016 were:  

 Greg Kaeding (Chair): AC Liaison office and Board 
liaison, AC HP Liaison, ICF Sprint Liaison & 
Communications, ACSRTC responsibilities; 

 Dasha Kopecek: Sprint Coach Development & 
Accreditation; 

 Laura White: Officials Development & 
Accreditation, SIRC venue enhancements; 

 Jeremy Norton: Facility Standards and 
Development; and 

 Ian Hume (ex-officio): ACSRTC Technology 
Development & Implementation. 

Despite our maintaining an ongoing liaison with the Chair of 

the ICF Canoe Sprint Committee (ICFSRTC) in order to have a 

greater voice and influence on the disciplines continued 

growth and development.  

Maintaining the relevance and increased participation in the 

canoe sprint discipline in Australia and maintaining the 

position of canoe sprint on the Olympic program are two 

priorities which must be supported and prioritised. To lose 

our participation base and hence potentially Olympic team 

representation, or to have the ICF lose the discipline from 

the Olympic program, puts at potential risk significant 

funding of our sport at National level. It is notable that the 

ICFSRTC is having another review of the Olympic program in 

early November and it is important that we contribute to, 

and  respond to any changes in the event program from an 

athlete support and competition delivery perspective. 

We continue to have an excellent working relationship with 

the AC High Performance staff. High Performance Director 

Richard Fox, HP Manager Lauren Fitzsimmons and HP 

Coordinator Asha Vekataya continue to support our 

committee and officials in their participation and 

engagement with the high performance program and the 

financing of committee activities and the ongoing technical 

development and conduct of the national regatta program. 

AC Operations Manager Mary Macaluso has also been 

instrumental in the successful delivery of the Oceania and 

National Championship events for 2016.  

Committee operates in accordance with AC Board guidelines 

and with a view to achieving a modest surplus operating 

budget. As the Committee does not have its own budget 

funds however, we remain reliant on financial support from 

the HP unit and in return operate the regatta program on a 

not-for-profit basis, thereby ensuring minimum participation 

costs for athletes.  

For 2016/2017 the Grand Prix series will commence as usual 

with a regatta in Adelaide in early December followed by GP-

2 and the National Championships at SIRC. The respective 

NSW, WA and SA State Championships will also again feature 

as opportunities for interstate competition however they 

are not part of the GP series. 

SIRC will again feature on the competition program calendar 

after a successful lake water treatment program was 

conducted to address the ongoing weed problem which saw 

the venue lose its use as a national regatta and Olympic 

selection venue in 2016. SIRC remains our number one 

accredited international venue with its facilities and two 

start systems available for use at regattas.  

For the 2017-2020 quadrennium, Committee needs to 

consider a number of areas which were raised in last year’s 

report. These include: 

 Number of regatta’s and events on GP / Nationals  

competition program;  

 Age category availability of events; 

 Regatta scheduling and competition entry 

management; 
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 GP regatta weekday programming to encourage cross 

representation and participation of marathon and 

sprint athletes; 

 Review of the AC officials course syllabus; 

 State based officials development and accreditation 

programs; 

 Succession planning and appointment for key technical 

officials at national regattas; 

 Australian officials selection and representation to the 

ICF events calendar; 

 ICF officials information seminars and  courses for 

Perth, Adelaide and Sydney; 

 Australian representation to the ICF Canoe Sprint 

Technical Committee; 

 Potential separation of U23 and senior selection 

events; 

 Future and scheduling of Masters competition on 

national regatta program; and 

 Financial support for purchase of Adelaide gate 

system, and viability of ongoing SIRC gate transport to 

other regatta venues. 

I would also again like to take this opportunity to 

acknowledge the work of the competition organising sub-

committee members. A significant commitment of 

dedicated time is required in the planning and scheduling of 

the regatta event program and entry management. Jim 

Murphy, Mark O’Brien and Tracey Tapscott are to be 

commended on their patience and commitment as the entry 

lodgement, scheduling and confirmation process is both 

arduous and time consuming and essential to ensure a 

quality competition. 

Ian Hume is also to be commended on his countless hours 

continuing to upgrade the technical and professional 

elements of the event entry management and timing 

processes and also the technology enhancements for 

officials in their monitoring and conduct of events. As was 

stated last year, the reality is that we can now deliver with 

technology ‘provisional results’ in advance of official 

processing times required to confirm fair umpiring of races 

and conditions and to formally process official results. 

Athletes and team officials now need to be cognisant of the 

time required to process accurate photo-timing, and to 

consider athlete progressions, and allow for processing of 

potential athlete disqualifications and athlete protests that 

need to be lodged and resolved. These processes are now 

the time dependent element in delivering official results and 

we must not, unlike as occurred recently in ‘Rio’, be 

pressured into releasing results in advance of due processes 

of validation and verification, especially prior to publishing 

progressions.  

I would like to recognise the efforts of AC‘s Melissa Hopwood 

as National Pathway Manager. In a short time her 

consultation and work in the area of coach development, 

assessment and accreditation area with Committee member 

Dasha Kopechek was appreciated.  

I also extend my appreciation to the office staff especially 

Mary Macaluso in her capacity as AC Operations Manager 

whom remains a tireless resource and can be relied upon to 

progress my issues and Committee needs and also to AC 

Administration Officer Courtney McMillan for her patience 

and support. 

Finally thank you to CEO Greg Doyle and the Board for their 

counsel and consideration on sprint management, 

resourcing and other issues. Your sport governance, 

development and management issues are all encompassing 

and far wider than the discipline yet you have taken the time 

to give consideration to differences of opinion and provide 

advice and direction.    

As with last year’s report, I acknowledge that there is an 

opportunity for wider involvement and active participation 

by States in the development and delivery of the canoe 

sprint discipline in Australia and I wish to encourage States 

to seek and have wider engagement with Committee. 

We look forward to positive suggestions, comments and 

more importantly offers of assistance and involvement. 

 

Greg KAEDING 

Chair 

Canoe Sprint Race Technical Committee 
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Canoe Marathon 
The past year has allowed the individuals on the Australian 

Canoe Marathon Racing Technical Committee (ACMRTC) to 

further expand on their designated role within the 

committee.  Each are listed beside their responsibility. 

Events  

The 2016 Australian Canoe Marathon Championships was 

held at Lake Coomera on the Gold Coast.  A barrage of 

negative comments on social media did not deter the 

organising committee.   

The course was considered to be challenging and made 

competition very tactical.  The course had a long straight, 

tight turns to left and right and a challenging portage over 

more than 120 metres. 

Of the total 257 entries Masters represented 55.3% of all 

competitors with 142 (101 male/ 41 female), Juniors 

represented 28.8% with 74 (29 male / 49 female) and the 

senior entries were 16% with a total of 41 (26 male / 15 

female).  International entries were received from New 

Zealand, Germany and Russia. 

A breakdown of entries from each of the states: 

 Queensland – 99 

 Victoria - 69 

 New South Wales – 66 

 Western Australia – 11 

 South Australia – 6 

Victoria collected the Frank Whitebrook trophy, 

International Class Trophy and Halford Challenge Trophy.  

Queensland was presented with the Touring Class Trophy.  

The Coulthart Trophy was awarded to Luke Dooley (WA) and 

Mackenzie Duffy (Qld). 

Many thanks to Terry Newsome (NZ) who filled the role of 

Chief Course Umpire. 

The support and sponsorship of the Gold Coast City Council 

is acknowledged. 

In 2017 the Australian Championships will move away from 

the traditional Easter time due to a clash with the 2017 

World Masters Games in New Zealand.  The venue will be 

the Sydney International Regatta Centre, Penrith, NSW. 

Officials  

Difficulty lies within ensuring the application of rules for 

canoe marathon are consistent from club to club and state 

to state.  Demographics and the variety of waterways each 

present other challenges.  It is therefore the aim of the 

ACMRTC to provide volunteer officials with the basic 

knowledge and skills in applying the rules.  

In the past year, two courses have been held in Queensland 

– one of the Gold Coast for eight participants and another in 

Mt Isa (North West Canoe Club) for another four 

participants. 

The ACMRTC has offered each of the member State 

Associations the opportunity to train a person as a State 

Canoe Marathon Official Training Officer.  That person would 

then be able to conduct canoe marathon official training on 

needs basis within their state. 
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Athlete and Coach Development  

Greater assistance and advice to develop athletes within 

canoe marathon is extremely difficult to for volunteers to 

coordinate.  The ACMRTC is currently developing a plan to 

provide athletes with access to scientific testing that will 

assist with their training and development.  It is hoped AC 

will adopt the plan. 

Margi Bohm managed three Under 18 athletes on the 

Emerging National Team tour to South Africa from May to 

June 2016.  Kate Taylor, Daniel Mole and Mitchell Cronin 

participated in the tour.  Upon arrival the team spent three 

nights at the Imfolozi Game Reserve near Durban.  Time on 

safari allowed the members to bond by cooking for 

themselves and working as a team spotting wildlife. 

It was then on to the Natal Canoe Club in Pietermaritzburg 

(host venue for the 2017 ICF Masters World Cup and ICF 

World Canoe Marathon Championships).  The team 

underwent testing providing data on flexibility, core 

strength, muscular endurance, running and kayak time trials, 

lactate testing and technique.  He team participated in Natal 

Canoe Club sessions. 

 

 

The team put their new knowledge into practice at the South 

African National Flatwater Marathon Championships.  

Graeme Solomon (world champion and South African 

legend) past on his knowledge of the course to the team. 

Thee results achieved at the South African Championships: 

Kate Taylor 4th Under 18 Women K1. 

Mitchell Cronin 8th Under 18 Men K1. 

Daniel Mole 10th Under 18 Men K1. 

Danial Mole / Mitchell Cronin 6th Under 18 Men K2. 

Kate Taylor / Margi Bohm 4th Senior Women K2. 

Safety  

The regulations from state to state vary as to the wearing of 

life jackets.  Some states it is mandatory for training and 

exceptions for competition can be granted under certain 

conditions.  Whilst in other states there are no current 

regulations for wearing of life jackets. 

The Safety Officer provided guidance and advice on the Risk 

Management Plans for the 2016 Australian Canoe Marathon 

Championships and has commenced planning for the 2017 

Australian Canoe Marathon Championships.  
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Results – 2015 ICF World Canoe Marathon 

Championships 

Junior Women K1 

9th Isabel Neilson 

20th Stephanie Langley 

Junior Women K2 

11th Stephanie Langley / 

Isabel Neilson 

Junior Men K1 

23rd Oliver James  

30th Hamish Young 

Junior Men K2 

20th Oliver James / Hamish 

Young 

21st Callum Gosbell / 

Andrew Holloway 

Under 23 Women K1 

13th Penelope Young 

Under 23 Men K1 

23rd Timothy Stenlake 

28th Casey Haynes 

Senior Women K1 

9th Tegan Fraser 

10th Marlena Ahrens 

Senior Women K2 

12th Penelope Young / 

Reka Abraham 

Senior Men K1 

16th Michael Leverett 

24th Sasa Vujanic 

Senior Men K2 

18th Michael Leverett / 

Edward Lovick 

 

Results – 2016 ICF Masters World Cup 

35 – 39 Women K1 

1st Jenni Bateman 

50 – 54 Women K1 

3rd Pauline Findlay 

55 – 59 Women K1 

1st Margi Bohm 

60 – 64 Women K1 

4th Judy Darbyshire 

5th Sue Muller-Hawkins 

6th Margaret Vegh 

7th Dianne Chellew 

65 – 69 Women K1 

1st Ann Lloyd-Green 

40 – 44 Men K1 

21st James Fergus 

50 – 54 Men K1 

4th Brett Greenwood 

6th Darren Lee 

26th John Young 

31st David Little 

55 – 59 Men K1 

18th Mark Lawson 

19th Steve Vegh 

21st Mark Rickard 

60 – 64 Men K1 

9th Terry Poole 

19th Peter Martin 

65 – 69 Men K1 

11th Geoffrey Baggett 

16th Geoffrey Horsnell 

 

70 – 74 Men K1 

7th John Newton 

35 – 39 Mixed K2 

3rd Jenni Bateman / Mark 

Lawson 

50 – 54 Mixed K2 

2nd Mark Rickard / 

Gabrielle Hurley 

4th David Little / Pauline 

Findlay 

55 – 59 Mixed K2 

1st Steve Vegh / Margaret 

Vegh 

50 – 54 Men K2 

9th Brett Greenwood / 

Darren Lee 

14th John Young / Rob 

Russell 

65 – 69 Men K2 

6th Geoffrey Baggett / 

Geoffrey Horsnell 

55 – 59 Women K2 

1st Margi Bohm / Hilde 

Lapere (South Africa) 

3rd Lorraine Harper-Horak 

/ Dallas Newman 

60 - 64 Women K2 

1st Sue Muller-Hawkins / 

Ann Lloyd-Green 

2nd Judy Darbyshire / 

Dianne Chellew 

 

 

Jerry Dunn 

Chair 

Australian Canoe Marathon Racing Technical Committee  
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Freestyle 
The 2015-2016 paddling season for freestyle commenced 

with a large Australian team competing at the 2015 World 

Championships in late August/early September on the 

Ottawa River in Canada.  The competition feature was the 

wave known as Garburator which for the majority of the 

team was a completely new experience.  Whilst the team did 

not place in any of the events, it was a significant 

competition for Australian freestyle as it was a large team 

which included senior and junior female team members, 

juniors that had come through the newly established 

development program and a mix of experienced competition 

athletes and those new to competitive freestyle.   

In January 2016, six members of the Australian team and two 

new junior paddlers travelled to Hawea in New Zealand for 

a development camp lead by Claire O’Hara (freestyle coach 

and world champion).  The camp provided the opportunity 

to experience an artificial wave and hole feature on New 

Zealand’s shortest river and to paddle with junior paddlers 

from the South Island.   

Two Australian competitions were held, one of which was 

the nationals.  Both competitions utilised the new scoring 

software WaveMonkey which was developed for the 2015 

World Championships with Australia being the first to use it 

for a national and local competition.   

The committee is continuing work on implementing 

strategies from its Strategic Plan including establishing closer 

ties with the New Zealand freestyle community and 

development opportunities for all levels of freestyle 

athletes.   

The next World Championships will be held in Rio, Brazil in 

2017 and I am looking forward to working with the Technical 

Committee, the freestyle community and paddlers so that 

we can send a strong team which includes all categories.  I 

would like to thank the Technical Committee who have work 

to progress freestyle and the Australian freestyle community 

who make freestyle an exciting, dynamic and inclusive sport.   

 

Jez Jezz 

Chair  

Freestyle Technical Committee 
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Ocean Racing 
The 2015-16 season began with the 2nd Ocean Racing World 

Championships in Tahiti on 2nd/3rd of October.  Our 

Australian team had some fantastic results:- 

Open Men 

1st     Cory Hill (NSW) 

2nd    Clint Robinson (QLD) 

5th     Michael Booth (QLD) 

8th     Murray Stewart (NSW) 

9th     Sam Norton (TAS) 

Open Ladies 

6th     Wendy Reyntjes (VIC) 

9th     Kylie Broad (WA) 

 

U23 Men 

1st      MacKenzie Hynard 

(NSW) 

3rd     Joey Hall (NSW) 

5th     Tom Norton (TAS 

7th     Samuel Djodan (NSW) 

U23 Ladies 

2nd     Georgia Laird (TAS) 

3rd      Jamie Brinkworth 

(NSW) 

 

U18 Men 

3rd     Fergus Morgan (WA) 

 

  

 

 

  

40-44yrs Men 

1st     Clint Robinson (QLD) 

40-44yrs  Women 

1st     Wendy Reyntjes (VIC) 

50-54yrs  Men 

1st     Mike Mills-Thom 
(NSW) 

45-49yrs  Women 

2nd     Tricia Gilbert (WA) 

55-59yrs Men 

1st      Rob Jenkinson (WA) 

50-54yrs  Women 

1st      Julie Jenkinson (WA) 

60-64yrs  Men 

1st      Murray Latham (WA) 

 

65yrs+ Men 

1st       Neil Carlyle (NSW) 

2nd      Timothy Hookins 
(NSW) 

 

 

 



- 49 - 
 
The next major event for our discipline was our 2015 

National Championships that we held in conjunction with 

the 2015 Epic Perth Doctor race, November 28th.  While the 

actual racing for the event was fiercely contested, it 

highlighted some issues that we need to address for future 

years, including 

 Only a quarter of all Perth Doctor competitors were 

affiliated with Australian Canoeing 

 The Perth Doctor age groups were not aligned with the 

ICF age groups which caused confusion at the prize 

giving and ended with not all the master AC medals 

being presented. 

 

Bids for the 2017 and 2019 ICF World Ocean Racing 

Championships were also called for and a bid was submitted 

for the Perth Doctor, but 2017 was awarded to Hong Kong 

and 2019 to France.  It is now on the ICF Congress 

November’s agenda for the Ocean Racing Championships to 

be held annually and if passed then they will also vote for a 

2018 Word Championships, of which we have again 

submitted a bid . 

We have also reached an agreement with Dean Gardiner 

from Oceanpaddler for Australian Canoeing to endorse his 

series of 9 races and his series race points system to award 

our 2016 National Champions and team selections for the 

2017 World Championships in July.  As part of this 

agreement Dean will be active in encouraging all race 

participants to join a local club and become affiliated with 

Australian Canoeing. 

The West Australian Ocean Racing Cub model (IOP – Indian 

Ocean Paddlers) still seems to be the most successful model 

for all other states to emulate. This club model promotes 

participation in both racing and training groups making a 

stronger Ocean Racing paddling community. Discussions are 

happening now to work out the practicality of duplicating in 

other states to promote participation numbers and strength 

in the sport. 

Development 

As with all other paddling disciplines the biggest hurdle is in 

junior development to bring in new (young) members to the 

sport. Our largest draw of new members continues to come 

from the Surf Live Saving community which does give us the 

added benefits of competencies in wave skills, swimming 

and water safety. An AC workshop in Junior development 

would be ideal for all disciplines at sometime in the future. 

This workshop would focus on where current numbers are 

coming from and new areas to approach and what benefits 

new members can get with involvement in canoeing. It 

would be great to see information coming from our data 

base to see how many members are coming/leaving in each 

discipline. This would also help in junior development and 

funding where it needs to be to help overall AC membership. 

Rob Jenkinson 

Chair  

Ocean Racing Technical Committee
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Wildwater 
Wildwater has had another great year with highlights 

including: 

 The holding of a very successful Junior Development 

Camp for one week in the Snowy Mountains of NSW 

 A successful National Wildwater Championships in 

Tasmania. 

 A number of our senior athletes competing well in 

international competition. 

 The Wildwater Committee's successful running or 

partnering in a number of River races which gained 

valuable funding for the support of Junior 

Development and our Australian Senior athletes 

competing in World Championships and World Cups in 

Europe. 

As stated in our last year's report the committee had 

planned a Junior development tour in the last week of 

September, 2015 in the Snowy Mountains region of NSW.  

This was a resounding success for all concerned which 

included a number of Junior Victorian paddlers that were 

ably led by our National Sprint Champion Robert McIntyre 

and assisted by Chris Wharton and a number of other 

parents who did a great job with car turnarounds and were 

always there with food as the hungry paddlers came off the 

water.  The tour started off in the northern part of the 

Mountains with rivers paddled including the Tumut, the 

Murrumbidgee at Childowlah rapid and the Murrumbidgee 

near Canberra from the Cotter Reserve to Uriarra Crossing.  

The tour then moved to Jindabyne where for a number of 

days the group paddled and increased their skill levels on the 

harder whitewater of the Snowy River near Island Bend. 

The trip was such a success that a similar trip is planned for 

the same time this coming year and it is hoped that it will 

again be well participated. 

In January 2016 a successful National Championships was 

held on the Mersey River in Tasmania.  Our open National 

Champions were Matt Dalziel from TAS in the Classic which 

was a tremendous effort taking his 5th National title some 17 

years after his last win.  Rob McIntyre from NSW won the 

Sprint championship making that his 5th title in the last 6 

years and Madeleine Batters from VIC won both the Classic 

and Sprint titles for the first time in her career. 

In the Under 23 men’s Tom Mountney from Tasmania took 

the Classic and Sprint double.  In the Under 18 Women 

Georgie Tonkin won the Sprint and in the Under 18 Men 
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James O’Donoghue-Hayes won the Sprint and Max 

McDonald won the Classic race. 

This year we had a small but successful Australian senior 

touring team of four athletes being Alex and Robert 

McIntyre and Georgina Collin and Dita Pahl.  Alex, Robert 

and Georgina competed in the World Championships on the 

Vbras River at Banja Luka in Bosnia & Herzegovina.  Robert 

again made it to his 3rd World Championship Sprint final and 

finished 10th place in a tight final where there was only 1.06 

seconds between 3rd and 10th place.  Alex McIntyre finished 

outside the final 15 in a credible 25th place overall while 

Georgina Collin in her first senior World Championship event 

finished a solid 19th place overall.  In the classic men’s races 

Robert finished 29th and Alex 36th while in the women 

Georgina finished 25th. 

Next on the tour was the World Cups 1 and 2 in Celje 

Slovenia which saw Robert McIntyre agonisingly close to the 

podium with a 4th place only 3 hundredth of a second off the 

bronze medal.  Alex finished outside the final 15 in an overall 

placing of 21st and Georgina Collin also finished outside the 

final 12, finishing 14th overall.  Dita Pahl who could not be at 

the World Championships had joined the team at this stage 

and made the final of the woman’s sprint and finished in 12th 

place which was an excellent result.   In the classic race only 

Robert and Georgina contested this event which was a long 

classic with Robert placing 40th and Georgina 14th place. 

Next there was a long trek of some 1,600 kilometres over to 

Pau in France for the combined Wildwater and Slalom World 

Cup.  The course was a steep learning curve for most of the 

wildwater paddlers who only had a very limited amount of 

time to train on it given that slalom athletes also needed 

training slots in the lead up to competition.  Robert McIntyre 

had a great first run to finish 7th and was only 0.13 of a 

second off qualifying in the 5th spot which would have 

secured a direct finals birth.  Unfortunately in his second 

qualification run he caught an edge and spun out ending his 

final hopes and forcing him back to an overall placing of 35th.  

Alex McIntyre again was just outside the top 15 finalists and 

finished 22nd overall.  In the women’s event Dita Pahl our 

only representative also finished outside the top 12 finalists 

in a very credible 16th position. 

Back to the domestic front our Victorian Wildwater Paddlers 

have been very active in running an annual Wildwater series 

which has been a great initiative to encourage more 

participation in the sport and provide more opportunity 

especially for our Junior paddlers to gain more experience 

and confidence.  The organisers of these events such as Chris 

Wharton, Wes Hurrey, Matthew French and Tony Mission 

should be commended for the great work they are doing in 

the promotion of the sport. 

Also the committee's partnering and/or running of certain 

river races such as the e2a and Goulburn Classic races has 

been highly successful in not only promoting river racing but 

has seen how the two disciplines of Wildwater and 

Marathon racing can come together under such races.  From 

a financial perspective it has been a success for our 

Wildwater committee to have participated in such races as 

part of the proceeds have gone to assist our Australian 

overseas touring athletes. 

In conclusion I would like to thank my other committee 

members Matt Dalziel and Leigh Murphy for their efforts and 

support throughout the last 12 month period. 

 

Peter McIntyre 

Chair  

Australian Wildwater Technical Committee
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Our Teams 
Canoe Polo 

2016 Canoe Polo World 

Championships 

Senior Team  

Syed Naseer Aljunied (NSW) 

James Deakin (NSW) 

Rowan Holt (NSW) 

Ian McIntosh (SA) 

Andrew Merrifield (VIC) 

Stephen Porter (VIC) 

Nathan Rosaguti (NSW) 

Robert Sims (NSW) 

Chung-Yen (Louie) Wu (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Matthew Moore 

John Moore 

 

Canoe Slalom 

2016 Olympic Team  

Ian Borrows (NSW) 

Lucien Delfour (NSW) 

Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Julien Billaut 

Eimear Cradock 

Mike Druce 

Myriam Fox 

Richard Fox 

Natasha Walsh 

2015 Canoe Slalom Senior 

World Championships  

Alison Borrows (NSW) 

Lucien Delfour (NSW) 

Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Ethan Hodson (NSW) 

Robin Jeffery (WA) 

Rosalyn Lawrence (NSW) 

Kynan Maley (WA) 

Jaxon Merritt (VIC) 

Daniel Watkins (TAS) 

Team Management: 

Julien Billaut 

Mike Druce 

Myriam Fox 

Natasha Walsh 

Patrick Weston 

 

2016 Senior World Cup Team  

Alison Borrows (NSW) 

Ian Borrows (NSW) 

Lucien Delfour (NSW) 

Warwick Draper (VIC) 

Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Noemie Fox (NSW) 

Ethan Hodson (NSW) 

Robin Jeffery (WA) 

Rosalyn Lawrence (NSW) 

Jaxon Merritt (VIC) 

Team Management: 

Julien Billaut 

Mike Druce 

Myriam Fox 

Natasha Walsh 

Patrick Weston 

2016 Canoe Slalom Junior & U23 

World Cup 

U23 Team  

Tim Anderson (VIC) 

Brodie Crawford (WA) 

Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Noemie Fox  (NSW) 

Steven Lowther (WA) 

Benjamin Pope (WA) 

Georgia Rankin (WA) 

Daniel Watkins (TAS) 

Junior Team  

Lachlan Bassett (VIC) 

Tristan Carter (VIC) 

Alexandria Choate (WA) 

Timothy Coward (WA) 

Billie Knell (WA) 

Nina Mueller (WA) 

Louis Richardson (WA) 

Kira Wall (WA) 

Team Management: 

Al Alderson 

Warwick Draper 

Peter Eckhardt 

Christian Fabris 

Sarah Grant 

2016 NTS Team  - NZ Tour 

Lachlan Bassett (VIC) 

Kieran Black (VIC) 

Alexandria Choate (WA) 

Samuel Grant (VIC) 

Max McDonald (VIC) 

Aiden O’Callaghan (VIC) 

Bradley McLaughlan (VIC) 

Cameron McLaughlan (VIC) 

Louis Richardson (WA) 

Daniel Shamieh (VIC) 

Claire Tonkin (VIC) 

Alexandra Vogel (WA) 

Team Management: 

Al Anderson 

Jill Bassett 

Warwick Draper 

 

Canoe Sprint 

2015 Senior World 

Championships Team  

Murray Stewart (NSW) 

Lachlan Tame (NSW) 

Ken Wallace (QLD) 

David Smith (NSW) 

Riley Fitzsimmons (NSW) 

Jacob Clear (QLD) 
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Jordan Wood (QLD) 

Jesse Phillips (WA) 

Steve Bird (WA) 

Alyssa Bull (QLD) 

Alyce Burnett (QLD) 

Jo Brigden-Jones (NSW) 

Alana Nicolls (WA) 

Naomi Flood (NSW) 

Bernadette Wallace (QLD) 

Cristi Florian (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Christine Bain 

Jimmy Owens 

Nathan Luce 

Anna Wood 

Tim Jacobs 

David Foureur 

Nicolla Bullock 

David Aitken 

2015 Paracanoe Team  

Erin Baker (QLD)  

Sam Bloom (NSW) 

Sam Germain (SA)  

Brock Ingram (WA)  

Dylan Littlehales (NSW)  

Curtis McGrath (QLD)  

Amanda Reynolds (VIC) 

Susan Seipel (QLD)  

Colin Sieders (NSW)  

Andrew Stiles (QLD)  

Melissa Sullivan (QLD)  

Team Management: 

Christine Bain 

Andrea King  

Guy Power 

2016 Paracanoe Sprint World 

Cup 

Dylan Littlehales (NSW) 

Curtis McGrath (QLD) 

Jocelyn Neumueller (SA) 

Amanda Reynolds (VIC) 

Susan Seipel (QLD) 

Colin Sieders (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Christine Bain 

Richard Fox 

Andrea King 

Guy Power 

2016 Olympic Team  

Steve Bird (WA) 

Alyssa Bull (QLD) 

Alyce Burnett (QLD) 

Jacob Clear (QLD) 

Riley Fitzsimmons (NSW) 

Naomi Flood (NSW) 

Martin Marinov (QLD) 

Murray Stewart (NSW) 

Ferenc Szeksardi (WA) 

Lachlan Tame (NSW) 

Ken Wallace (QLD) 

Jordan Wood (QLD) 

Team Management: 

David Aitken 

Christine Bain 

Nicolla Bullock 

Myles Burfield 

David Foureur 

Richard Fox 

Tim Jacobs 

Nathan Luce 

Jimmy Owens 

Anna Wood 

2016 Paralympic Team  

Dylan Littlehales (NSW) 

Curtis McGrath (QLD) 

Jocelyn Neumueller (SA) 

Amanda Reynolds (VIC) 

Susan Seipel (QLD) 

Colin Sieders (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Christine Bain 

Richard Fox 

Andrea King 

Guy Powers 

2016 Canoe Sprint Junior & U23 

World Cup 

Bill Bain (QLD) 

Alyssa Bull (QLD) 

Josephine Bulmer (SA) 

Jy Duffy (QLD) 

Rachel Duncan (NSW) 

Callum Dunn (SA) 

Jayden Ellis (SA) 

Riley Fitzsimmons (NSW) 

Jaqueline Green (NSW) 

Francesca Kidd (SA) 

Charlie Kneebone-Ellis (SA) 

Rebecca Mann (VIC) 

Brianna Massie (QLD) 

Joel McKitterick (QLD) 

Ben McLean (NSW) 

Simon McTavish (NSW) 

Shannon Reynolds (WA) 

Isabella Rositano (SA) 

Mark Stowe (NSW) 

Jordan Wood (QLD) 

2016 Junior Team  

Ruby Backen (SA) 

Jayde Bagnall (NSW) 

Reece Bacchus (SA) 

Ella Beere (NSW) 

Caitlin Burt-Poloai (QLD) 

Noah Cameron (VIC) 

Monique Carbone (WA) 

Tom Green (QLD) 

Oliver James (VIC) 

Joshua Jone-Rew (QLD) 

Benjamin Manning (QLD) 

Luke Morton (WA) 

Ethan Neville (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Ramon Andersson 

Christine Duff 

Kris Lepianka 

Lisa Russ 

David Smith 

2016 Olympic Hopes Team  

17 Years Men Kayak 

Caleb Bushby (WA) 

Toby Digney (WA) 

Liam Farrell (NSW) 

Dodge Newton (NSW) 

George Rugless (SA) 

Angus Schmidt (NSW) 

15/16 Years Men Kayak 

Harry Armstrong (NSW) 
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Lachlan Bancroft (QLD) 

Jack Birt (NSW) 

Byron Chadwick (NSW) 

Jesse Ellis (SA) 

Tasman Farrell (NSW) 

Jacob Gardner (NSW) 

Jonathan Gray (QLD) 

Matthew Greed (WA) 

17 Years Women Kayak 

Tyler Armenti (WA) 

 Erin Blanch (QLD) 

Caitlin Callaghan (NSW) 

Isabella Gill (QLD) 

Kelsey Goldner (SA) 

Hannah Tatlock (SA) 

15/16 Years Women Kayak 

Sophie Butler (QLD) 

Mackenzie Duffy (QLD) 

Alicia Fay (QLD) 

Mya Harvey (NSW) 

Tiarnee Massie (QLD) 

Gabrielle Parker (QLD) 

Yasemin Ray (WA) 

Team Management: 

Christine Duff 

Kris Lepianka 

David Smith 

Nick Bulmer 

Bernadette Wallace 

 

Freestyle 

2015 Freestyle World 

Championships 

Senior Team  

Joseph Dunn (NSW) 

Jez Jezz (NSW) 

Tim Lau (VIC) 

Dita Pahl (VIC) 

Sue Robb (ACT) 

James Rowlinson (NSW) 

Joshua Singleton (WA)  

Mitch Taylor (NSW)  

Anthony Yap (VIC) 

Junior Team  

Georgia Clarke (NSW) 

Gilbert Coombes (NSW) 

Liam Dowd (NSW) 

Rowan Kaar (NSW) 

Maddison Wilson (VIC) 

Team Management: 

Eileen Callaghan 

Tim Coombes  

Jez Jezz 

 

Marathon 

2015 Marathon World 

Championships 

Senior Team  

Reka Abraham (VIC) 

Marlena Ahrens (VIC) 

Tegan Fraser (QLD) 

Josh Kippin (WA) 

Michael Leverett (VIC) 

Edward Lovick (VIC) 

Rebecca Mann (VIC) 

James Morfitt (WA) 

Sasa Vujanic (NSW) 

Penny Young (VIC) 

U23 Team  

Casey Haynes (VIC) 

Timothy Stenlake (QLD) 

Kayla Whinray (VIC) 

Penny Young (VIC) 

Junior Team  

Callum Gosbell (VIC) 

Andrew Holloway (VIC) 

Oliver James (VIC) 

Stephanie Langley (VIC)  

Isabel Neilson (VIC) 

Hamish Young (VIC) 

Team Management:  

Reka Abraham 

Lynwen Birch  

Rob Russell  

2015 Marathon Masters World 

Cup 

Geoff Baggett (NSW) 

Jenni Bateman (WA) 

Margi Bohm (ACT) 

Marc Brehin (SA) 

Madeline Chard (NSW) 

Judith Darbyshire (WA) 

James Fergus (NSW) 

Pauline Findlay (NSW) 

Brett Greenwood (NSW) 

Lorraine Harper-Horak (NSW) 

Geoffery Horsnell (VIC) 

Gabrielle Hurley (ACT) 

Marni Kay (NSW) 

Mark Lawson (WA) 

Darren Lee (NSW) 

David Little (NSW) 

Ann Lloyd-Green (NSW) 

Sue Muller (NSW) 

Dallas Newman (NSW) 

John Newton (QLD) 

Mark Rickard (QLD) 

Team Management: 

Lynwen Birch  

Reka Abraham 

 

 

2016 Emerging National Team 

Mitchell Cronin  

Daniel Mole 

Kate Taylor 

Team Management: 

Margi Bohm 

 

Ocean Racing  

2015 Ocean Racing World 

Championships 

Senior Team  

Michael Booth (QLD) 

Kylie Broad (WA) 

Heidi Carlyle (NSW) 
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Sam Norton (TAS) 

Wendy Rejntes (VIC) 

Clit Robinson (QLD) 

Dane Sloss (QLD) 

Murray Stewart (NSW) 

U23 Team  

Jamie Brinkworth (NSW) 

Sam Djodan (NSW) 

Joey Hall (NSW) 

Mackenzie Hynard (NSW) 

Georgia Laird (TAS) 

Tom Norton (TAS)  

Danielle Polson (NSW)  

Mitchell Trim (NSW) 

U18 Team  

Fergus Morgan (WA) 

Chloe Sterry (QLD) 

Team Management: 

Tim Hookins  

 

2015 Ocean Racing World Cup 

Masters 

Neil Carlyle (NSW) 

Helen Chorley (QLD)  

Istvan Domokos (NSW) 

Tim Fitzsimmons (QLD)  

Tricia Gilbert (WA)  

Tim Hookins (NSW)  

Julie Jenkinson (WA)  

Robert Jenkinson (WA) 

Tony King (NSW)  

Michael McGrath (NSW) 

Mike Mills-Thom (NSW) 

Luke O’Garey (TAS) 

Shane Sterry (QLD)  

Paula Tocquer (NSW)  

Jim Walker (NSW)   

Team Management: 

Tim Hookins  

Wildwater 

2016 Wildwater World 

Championships 

Senior Team  

Madeleine Batters (VIC) 

Georgina Collin (WA) 

Matt Dalziel (TAS) 

Alexander McIntyre (NSW) 

Robert McIntyre (NSW) 

Dita Pahl (VIC) 

Team Management: 

Peter McIntyre 
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Our Participation
Australian Canoeing Award Scheme 
By the end of June 2016, Australian Canoeing (AC) had a total 

of just over 2,360 Guides and Instructors around Australia 

and this number is continually growing. 

Over the past twelve months AC has continued to develop, 

grow and strengthen the Australian Canoeing Award Scheme 

(ACAS) as the premier accreditation program in the country 

with a growing reputation.  

To help make ACAS more available to the paddling industry 

the ACAS Instructor scope for delivering and assessing 

awards outside of a National Training Provider (NTP) has 

been increased to include all skills awards that are within the 

Instructors area of accreditation. More details can be found 

at http://canoe.org.au/education-safety/australian-

canoeing-award-scheme-acas/  

The Paddle Prep app has been developed and released with 

great success. Version 2 is currently under development with 

improvements in a number of areas based on feedback. For 

more information about Paddle Prep 

http://canoe.org.au/paddle-prep/ 

The Paddle Prep app features include:  

 Paddling equipment information including safety and 

communication; 

 Paddling skill demonstration videos; 

 Weather, tides and swell information; 

 Trip planning, gear lists and lodging a float plan; 

 Plus much more. 

It is going to be a busy and exciting next twelve months as 

we look at how we can further grow and service the 

education sector and continue to build ACAS’ reputation 

within it as AC expanses our engagement with recreation 

paddlers. 

 

 

 

Safety 
Safety in the recreation space has been an important focus 

over the past twelve months with many targets being met. 

AC has become a member of the Australia New Zealand Safe 

Boating Education Group (ANZSBEG) and a member of the 

Paddle Safe Working Group that operates within ANZSBEG. 

This group is looking at national initiatives to increase paddle 

sports safety. 

A Paddling Code has been developed to help remind, 

promote and encourage safety. Cartoons have also been 

produced to illustrate the Paddling Code and are being used 

to promote the Code in social media. 

Many other initiatives are underway which AC hopes it can 

report on in the coming months. 

Participation and Recreation 

AC’s participation program - Paddle Oz has been released. 

This program has been developed as an entry point into the 

world of paddling. The main focus of the program is for 

participants to have fun while discovering paddling through 

a range of games and activities. More details can be found at 

http://paddleoz.canoe.org.au/. AC is currently working 

towards having Paddle Oz recognised as the paddling activity 

in the Australian Sports Commission’s Sporting Schools 

program.  

A recreation newsletter is being distributed every 4 – 6 

weeks. The newsletter has received great feedback with 

recipients finding the contents useful and interesting. Past 

issues can be viewed at: 

http://canoe.org.au/recreation/recreation-newsletter/ 

The recreation area on the AC website is a work in progress 

with the goal to enhance the presence of recreation on the 

site and also increase the information available.  

http://canoe.org.au/education-safety/australian-canoeing-award-scheme-acas/
http://canoe.org.au/education-safety/australian-canoeing-award-scheme-acas/
http://canoe.org.au/paddle-prep/
http://paddleoz.canoe.org.au/
http://canoe.org.au/recreation/recreation-newsletter/
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The next twelve months will be very productive and exciting for 

the ACAS, Safety and the Participation/Recreation areas with 

many projects underway and in the planning. This includes new 

awards under ACAS, developing better processing programs, 

creating connections with overseas award schemes, 

establishing better connections with retailers, suppliers and 

operators, increasing the safety in paddle sports and much 

more.  

I would like to thank the Education and Safety Committee and 

Recreation Advisory Committee for all the great work, feedback 

and advice they have given to me over the past 12 months and 

I hope they are all ready for a big twelve months ahead. 

Mark Thurgood and Jason Dicker 

Education and Safety Committee 
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Our Pathways 
After just over a year at the helm of the initiated Pathways 

Program, Melissa Hopwood left us in October 2015 when 

she and her new husband moved to Auckland, NZ. Melissa 

did an amazing job in the small time she was developing 

Pathways and we would like to take this opportunity to 

thank her for her organisation and input into AC Pathways 

development. It was invaluable. As well, we wish her best of 

fortunes in her new married life as Melissa Wilson. 

Athlete and Coach Pathway Support 

Team 
In July 2015 we initiated a staffing rearrangement so that the 

two state coordinators became regional coordinators. Peter 

Gargulio (South East Region Coordinator) left us and in his 

place Michael Hudson assumed the responsibilities. Michael 

initiates the activities and delivery of our program across the 

states of Tasmania, Victoria and South Australia.  Glenn Pyne 

was given responsibility for the North East Region of 

Queensland and New South Wales. Guy Power took on the 

part time role of Western Australia Coordinator under the 

auspices of Canoeing Western Australia. 

In October, after Melissa left, National Pathways Manager 

(NPM) responsibilities were split between the Pathways staff 

and 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Asha Venkataya.  While not ideal, the arrangement has tied 

us over for the time being. Michael became responsible for 

National Slalom initiatives of Pathways and Glenn became 

responsible for the National Sprint initiatives as well as 

general maintenance of the NPM role. 

Also, in an interim role, Ian Beasely has been working to 

develop our coaching frameworks for sprint and slalom. Ian 

has bought with him the experience of developing the canoe 

polo coaching frameworks and is applying this to the 

development of the former two areas. 

National Athlete and Coach Pathway 

Frameworks 
As stated above, Ian Beasely has been developing the 

framework for the coaches’ development. The AC Coach 

Development Pathway as outlined in Figure 1. 

Simultaneously, the required National Athlete Pathway 

Framework (NAPF) is in the process of being developed in 

conjunction with advice from Dr Juanita Weissensteiner and 

Kable Kelleway from the AIS Pathways Development Team.  

This advice and help has been invaluable.  The initial stages 

of the NAPF is expected to be completed by the end of 

September 2016. 

  Figure 1: AC Coach Development Pathway 
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Sprint Development 

There was a change in structure with the regional sprint 

squads changing name from State Development Squads 

(SDS) to National Talent Squads (NTS) to match the national 

identity of the talent we are developing and to bring it in line 

with the arrangement used with slalom. This year 64 athletes 

were selected as National Talent Squad. 

Pathway Program Support 

Our support of clubs who are in the position of being able to 

produce athletes of high quality on a regular basis through 

criteria of outcomes and initiatives are continuing to be 

supported through our Pathway Program Accreditation 

(PPA) funding arrangements.  We have awarded funds and 

support to clubs this year in three categories (Gold, Silver 

and Bronze).  We had 21 clubs supported through this 

initiative for 2015-16, Table 1 outlines which clubs were 

involved this year. New this year was Wynnum Redlands (our 

first Club in Greater Brisbane region) which was 

encouraging. 

Table 1: PPA Clubs 2015-16 

Surf Lifesaving Australia Next Wave 

Partnership 

It was noted that while the national body and the state 

bodies are quite supportive of the links between surf and 

kayak it is difficult to get the same support on the ground in 

a number of key areas. 

The main areas seem to be that the larger and more 

successful clubs are less willing to support surf to kayak 

programs in general but there is interest from smaller clubs. 

As a result, this year we have concentrated on building 

individual relationships with coaches and administrators in 

selective clubs which have either the desire or the ability to 

channel athletes through our PPA systems, in a more 

targeted approach. 

Slowly, this seems to be reaping dividends with clubs in 

Victoria, Queensland (Gold Coast specifically) and to a 

degree Western Australia.  Guy Power has been key in 

building these relationships and contacts. 

A Masters student from Bond University interned in 

Pathways conducted a survey of local surf clubs to discuss 

the reluctance of surf clubs to encourage paddling.  This 

report was quite enlightening and is being used by Varsity 

Lakes to initiate programs with surf clubs and seems to be 

developing well. 

Australian Institute of Sport (AIS) Sports 

Draft Program 

Australian Canoeing participated for the second year in 

recruiting transfer athletes into fast track development. Of 

the athletes six from the 2014-15 program, five have 

continued on paddling with one of them (a canoe athlete) 

making the U23 Worlds Team.  This year, nine athletes 

where selected. Seven of whom came from surf; four from 

Western Australia, one from South Australia, two from NSW 

and two from QLD (via Northern NSW). 

These athletes have been integrated into the NTS system 

and are training with our PPA clubs on a regular basis. 

 

Glenn Pyne 

Interim National Pathways Manager 

Australian Canoeing Ltd. 

Program Name State 

GOLD   

Melbourne Canoe Club (Slalom) VIC 

West Lakes Canoe Club (Sprint) SA 

Varsity Lakes Paddlers Club (Sprint) QLD 

Derwent Canoe Club (Slalom) TAS 

Ascot Kayak Club (Slalom) WA 

Swan Canoe Club (Slalom) WA 

CWA Sprint NEDP Squad (Sprint) WA 

Sydney Northern Beaches Kayak Club (Sprint) NSW 

SILVER   

Avoca Kayak Club (Sprint) NSW 

Currumbin Creek Paddlers Club(Sprint) QLD 

Wynnum Redlands Canoe Club (Sprint) QLD 

Bayswater Paddlesports Club (Sprint) WA 

Kawana Waters Canoe Club (Sprint) QLD 

Sunshine Coast Paddlesports Club (Sprint) QLD 

BRONZE   

Champion Lakes Boating Club (Sprint) WA 

Tasmania Canoe Club (Sprint) TAS 

Bendigo Canoe Club (Sprint) VIC 

Holdfast Bay Paddlesports Club (Sprint) SA 

Patterson Lakes Canoe Club (Sprint) VIC 

Canoes Plus Racing Team (Sprint) VIC 

Southside Paddlers (Sprint) NSW 
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Very Significant People 
Sue Natoli receives Australian Canoeing Life Membership

At the 2015 AGM Sue Natoli became the newest life member of 

Australian Canoeing. Sue has been very involved in canoeing 

nationally and internationally for over 20 years. As a volunteer 

Sue has been and remains in the following positions: 

Sue has been a stalwart of event management for Canoe Slalom 

in Australia for 15 years. Her efforts internationally are highly 

regarded by many around the World. Sue has conducted a high 

level of training for the last 15 years to Australian technical 

officials. Due to the training Sue has provided to Australian 

officials, they are recognised and highly regarded on the 

international stage.  

During her time on the ICF Canoe Slalom Technical Committee 

Sue has been a part of overseeing / facilitating some major 

changes in the sport:  

 Increased participation of women; Women C1 events have 

now been introduced into World Cups and World 

Championships to which has lead the possible inclusion of 

the event in the 2020 Tokyo Olympics.  

 Increased participation of developing canoeing nations in 

Canoe Slalom;  

 Increased professionalism of the conduct of international 

Canoe Slalom events and technical officials; and  

 Standardisation of the running of major international 

races. 

Sue has been part of a progressive time in the sport and her 

involvement internationally has been shaped by the forward 

thinking attitude of the sport in Australia. 

Sue is currently a Selector for Australian Canoe Slalom 

National Talent Squad and Junior teams and has done so for 

the last 10 years.  

Sue is an internationally recognised Canoe Slalom Technical 

Official. Sue has been involved as an official at local, national 

and international events in a number of roles from judging, 

scoring, chief official, competition manager just to name a 

few.  

Key events that Sue has been instrumental in Australia 

include: 

Sue has received awards from Australian Canoeing 

throughout her years of involvement including:  

Congratulations Sue! 

 Australian Canoeing (AC) Canoe Slalom Technical 

Committee member since 2005; 

 International Canoe Federation (ICF) Canoe Slalom 

Technical Committee member since 2008; 

 Board member of the Oceania Canoe Association;  

 A mentor to new Judges and Event Organisers in 

Australia;   

 A member of the team developing the ICF Slalom 

Rules; and  

 ICF Slalom Technical Official accreditation since 1998. 

 

 2014 Junior and U23 Canoe Slalom World 

Championships (Sydney); Sue played an integral role 

in bringing the Junior and U23 Canoe Slalom World 

Championships to Australia and running a successful, 

enjoyable event for all involved; 

 2009 World Masters Games (Sydney); organising 

committee and key technical official; 

 Youth Olympic Festivals (Sydney) - organising 

committee and competition manager since the 

formation of the event (2001, 2003, 2005, 2007, 2009, 

and 2013); and  

 Olympic Games; has officiated at 2000, 2004, 2008 

and 2012 games. Including Chief of Scoring at the 

2000 Sydney Olympics. Sue has also been selected to 

officiate at the 2016 Rio Olympic Games. 

 

 2014 AC Technical Official of the Year and Award of Merit 

for the LOC of the Junior and U23 Canoe Slalom World 

Championships;   

 2012 AC Excellence Award; 

 2010 AC Services to Canoeing; and 

 2007 AC Award of Merit. 
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Helen Brownlee welcomed into the Sports Australia Hall of Fame 

 

Across more than 50 years of dedication Helen Brownlee 

OAM is the epitome of sport volunteerism at the highest 

level and a champion of the Olympic movement. As a 

canoeing competitor, judge and administrator, she has 

carried the baton at all times for her sport and nation with 

humility and success. 

 

Her list of achievements are vast, as a judge and official at 

five Olympic Games, a former president and now life 

member of Australian Canoeing, the current president of the 

Commonwealth Canoe Federation and Oceania Canoe 

Association, and chair of the Oceania National Olympic 

Committee’s Women and Sport Commission. 

 

A recipient of the esteemed Olympic Order from the 

International Olympic Committee, Brownlee is the first 

woman to be elected to the executive board of the 

Australian Olympic Committee, to become vice president, 

and to be awarded life membership of the AOC. 

 

An athlete herself at first, Brownlee spent every morning as 

a teenager on the Parramatta River, training with her father 

before school. She began racing in the K1 and K2 classes, but 

switched to slalom upon its introduction to Australia. 

Successful at state and national level with a number of 

medals, Brownlee won Australia’s first international 

canoeing medal with bronze in Llangollen, Wales. 

Unfortunately, however, Australian Canoeing focused its 

efforts on the sprint canoeing disciplines for the Munich 

1972 Olympic Games, leaving Brownlee – as a slalom paddler 

– unable to compete. 

Instead, she made her way to Munich as one of only two 

female judges. It began what would become a long love 

affair with the Olympic movement, that would see her 

officiate at the 1988, 1992, 1996 and 2000 Olympic Games. 

 

Upon returning to Australia inspired by her time in Munich, 

Brownlee could see clearly the work needing to be done. She 

wanted to ensure future slalom paddlers had the 

opportunity to represent their nation which she went 

without. It was the beginning of a lengthy and ongoing 

career in sports administration, which sees Brownlee as the 

current serving vice president of the Australian Olympic 

Committee. The first woman to hold that position, and a 

woman of many firsts across her career. 

 

It is clear through her many achievements and positions 

held, the success of Australian canoeing through her time as 

a leader of the sport, and her impending Induction to the 

Sport Australia Hall of Fame, that Helen Brownlee OAM has 

indeed made her mark. 

 

Helen Brownlee OAM was welcomed to the Sport Australia 

Hall of Fame fold by fellow Member and five-time Olympian 

Clint Robinson. Robinson is best known for his canoeing and 

kayaking feats at the 1992, 2004 and 1996 Olympic Games – 

winning gold, silver and bronze respectively. 

 

 

 

Congratulations Helen! 
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Financial Statements for the 

Year ended 30 June 2016 
Directors 
Your directors present this report on Australian Canoeing 

Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 

The names of each person who has been a director during the 

year and to the date of this report are: 

Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Claude Harran 

Ian Hume 

Andrea McQuitty 

James Rennell 

Anita Taylor 

Ken Wallace 

Danielle Woodward OAM 

 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial 

year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

 

Principal Activities 

The principal activity of Australian Canoeing Limited during 

the financial year was: 

The provision of national leadership and a national framework 

for harnessing the energies of the many canoeing people and 

organisations throughout Australia with the aim of building 

the business of canoeing for the benefit of all. 

Australian Canoeing Incorporated (ACI) had been operating as 

the Sports peak body since 1949. In July 2015, as part of the 

governance requirements of the Australian Sports 

Commission, Australian Canoeing Limited (ACL), a Company 

Limited by Guarantee was formed to incorporate the 

operations of ACI. As a result, ACL’s financial reporting 

obligations are overseen by the Australian Securities & 

Investments Commission and the organisations reporting 

disclosures are broader. ACL in effect took over the assets and 

liabilities of ACI, the details of which are reflected at Note 19 

of the Notes to the Financial Reports. 

There are no comparative figures (for the 2015 financial year), 

because ACL is a new corporate structure, having commenced 

in the 2016 financial year. 

Short-term and Long-term Objectives 

The company's short-term objectives are to: 

The company's long-term objectives are to: 

Strategies 

To achieve its stated objectives, the company has adopted a 

detailed four year strategic plan. 

The strategic plan focuses on four key pillars; Participation, 

Places, People and Performance. 

The strategic plan of the organisation is published on the 

organisations' web site for public access. 

Each sub-strategy has timelines, enablers and performance 

outcomes and measures. 

 Increase connection with current and future participants 

through effective use of IT and engagement of 

programmes. 

 Secure and enhance access to affordable, attractive and 

safe facilities and venues for all paddlers. 

 Increase the capacity and capability of our people to 

deliver quality and safe paddling experiences for all. 

 Ensure a culture of performance and sustained success 

and retention of athletes supported by effective 

leadership, quality coaching & competition, and access to 

first class daily training environments. 

  

 Engage and grow the participation base of paddlers 

 Maintain and expand access to paddling locations 

 Lead and guide people involved in paddle sports 

 Have paddlers excel at every level of performance 
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Key Performance Measures 

The company measures its own performance through: 

Information on Directors 
Martyn Clancy-Lowe Director 

Claude Harran Director 

Ian Hume Director 

Andrea McQuitty Director 

 Measuring the growth and reach in participation 

 Measuring the increase or decrease in access to 

enjoyable and safe waterways and venues 

 Measuring the number of members, coaches, 

officials, guides and volunteers 

 Reviewing the performance of Australian paddlers on 

the world stage 

  

 Director (elected on 29th April 2007) 

 Chair of the Nominations Committee 

 Board Representative on the Canoe Marathon 

Technical Committee 

 Board Representative on the Ocean Racing Technical 

Committee 

 Board Representative on the Canoe Sprint Technical 

Committee 

 Games Director for the 2004 Australasian Police & 

Emergency Services Games 

 MBA International marketing, Grad Dip IT, B.Bus 

Administration 

  

 Director (appointed on 21st July 2014) 

 Board Representative on the Nominations 

Committee 

 Graduate Diploma in Legal Practice, Leo Cussen 

Institute (2004) 

 MCommLaw, University of Melbourne (2003) 

 Masters in Commercial Law, Commercial Law (Sports 

law emphasis), University of Melbourne (2002) LLB, 

Law, University of Nottingham (2001) 

 BA, Economics and Industrial Sociology, University of 

the Witwatersrand (1996) 

 Senior Legal Counsel, Nissan Motor Co. (Australia) 

Pty Ltd since March 2014 – Present 

 Director (elected on 25th October 2014) 

 Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee 

 Board Representative on the Canoe Polo Technical 

Committee 

 Board Representative on the Canoe Slalom Technical 

Committee 

 Board Representative on the Education & Safety 

Committee 

 Marathon and Sprint Racing Technical Official 

 Officiated at the Sydney 2000 Olympic Games in 

Sprint. 

 Member of the Canoe Marathon Technical 

Committee (1999 – 2003) 

 Executive Officer for Canoe South Australia (2001-

2006). 

 Owner of Roof Rack City SA. 

 Deputy Chair & Vice President (elected on 11th 

November 2012, Deputy Chair since December 2015) 

 Board Representative on the Education & Safety 

Committee 

 Board Representative on the Recreation Advisory 

Committee 

 BSc – Biochemistry/ Botany, University of Tasmania 

(1986) 

 Dip Ed, University of Tasmania (1990) 

 Grad Dip Applied Science – Sports Coaching, 

University of Queensland (2006) 

 AC Whitewater Instructor 

 Level 2 Wildwater Coach 

 Program Leader - Science – Devonport High School 

(2013- present) 

 Teacher, Mathematics and Science; secondary and 

senior secondary (1991 – 2013) 

 Development Officer for Canoe Tasmania (2005-

2012) 

 Head Coach – Australian Wildwater Team (2008-

2010) 
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James Rennell Director 

Anita Taylor Director 

Ken Wallace Director 

Danielle Woodward OAM Director 

Meetings of Directors 

During the financial year, 7 meetings of directors were held. 

Attendances by each director were as follows: 

 Directors’ Meetings 

 Number eligible 

to attend 

Number 

attended 

Martyn Clancy-Lowe 7 4 

Claude Harran 7 7 

Ian Hume 7 7 

Andrea McQuitty 7 7 

James Rennell 7 6 

Anita Taylor 7 7 

Ken Wallace 7 1 

Danielle Woodward OAM 7 6 

 

 Director (appointed on 2nd July 2009, elected on 

25th October 2014) 

 Board Representative on the Freestyle Technical 

Committee 

 Founding member Institute of Building consultants 

(1994-1996) 

 Registered Arbitrator (1995-1999) 

 Accredited Mediator Construction (1995-2000) 

 Managing Director Marketplace Developments Pty 

Ltd (Property Development) 

 Managing Director CEO Meridian Property Holdings 

Pty Ltd (Property Investment) 

 

 Director (appointed on 17th March 2015) 

 Graduate Member, Australian Institute of Company 

Directors (2010) 

 Bachelor of Science (Psychology) USQ, Australia, (2008) 

 Mediator, Resolution Institute, (2006) 

 Chartered Accountant, Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in Australia, (1997) 

 Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting), UNSW, Australia, 

(1990) 

 Civil Aviation Safety Authority - Director 2014 – 

current, Chair Board Audit Committee, 2015 - current 

 NSW Gliding: Committee Member - Members 

Protection Information Officer 2009- current. 

 Red Eight Produce Pty Ltd, Executive Chair, 2016 - 

current 

 Previous roles include: Regional Development 

Australia - Northern Inland Committee - Member 2012 

- 2016; UNE Life Pty Ltd (University of New England, 

Controlled Entity) - Chair of the Board 2014 – 2016; 

Sport UNE Pty Ltd (University of New England, 

Controlled Entity) - Chair of the Board 2014 – 2016; and 

other listed and community organisations. 

 

 Director (Appointed as an athlete representative on 

11th November 2012) 

 Chair of the Athletes Commission 

 Olympian for Canoe Sprint at the 2008; 2012 & 2016 

Olympics 

 

 President & Chair (elected on 29th April 2007, 

President 15th November 2008) 

 Life Member of AC (since November 2014) 

 Board Representative on the Wildwater committee 

 Olympian for Canoe Slalom at the 1992, 96 and 2000 

Olympics 

 Director Australian Olympic Committee Board (2013 

– present) 

 Director Australian Olympic Foundation Ltd. (2013 – 

present) 

 Board Member Oceania Canoe Association (2016 –

present)  

 Deputy Chef de Mission, Australian Olympic Team 

Rio 2016 

 Athlete Welfare Manager, Winter Olympic Team -

Sochi 2014 

 Director Athlete Services, Australian Olympic Team 

London 2012 

 Coach Under 23 National Slalom Team 2006-2009 

 Head Coach Slalom Canoeing, Victorian Institute of 

Sport (1996-1997) 

 Level 2 Slalom Coach 

 Selected to her first Senior Australian Slalom Team in 

1982 and remained on the senior team every year 

until her retirement in 2001. 

 Awarded an OAM in 2002 for her services to sport, 

particularly to slalom canoeing and Olympic sport. 

 Australian Federal Police (AFP) Officer 

 Graduate member, Australian Institute of Company 

Directors (2014) 
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Members' Guarantee

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the company is wound 

up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1.00 each towards meeting any outstanding 

obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2016, the total amount that the members of the company are liable to contribute if the 

company is wound up is $6.00 (2015: nil). 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2016 has been received and forms part of the financial 

reports for Australian Canoeing Limited. 

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 
………………………………………………….. 

Danielle Woodward OAM (Director) 

 
………………………………………………….. 

Ian Hume (Director) 

Dated this 31st day of October 2016 
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AUSTRALIAN CANOEING LIMITED 
ABN: 61 189 833 125 

 
 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 
TO THE DIRECTORS OF AUSTRALIAN CANOEING LIMITED 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2016 there 
have been no contraventions of: 
 
i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 
ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

CBC Partners  
Chartered Accountants 
 
 

 
 
Ross E. Chapman FCA 
Partner 
 
 
SYDNEY 
Dated this 31st October 2016 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
 

    Note 2016 2015 

     $ $ 

       

Revenue    2 6,696,414 - 

Other 
income 

   2 369,088 - 

     7,065,502 - 

       

Employee benefits expense   3 (2,694,335) - 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  3 (5,709) - 

Doubtful debts expense   3 (2,000) - 

Marathon committee expense  3 (12,337) - 

Canoe Polo committee expense  3 (19,714) - 

Rental expense   3 (35,000) - 

Audit, legal and consultancy expense  3 (44,972) - 

Administration expense   3 (295,241) - 

Other expenses   3 (3,634,205) - 

     (6,743,513) - 

       

Profit before income tax    321,989 - 

       

Income tax expense    - - 

       

Profit for the year    321,989 - 

       

Profit attributed to members of the entity   321,989 - 

       

       

Other comprehensive income   - - 

       

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - 

       

Total comprehensive income for the year  321,989 - 

       

Total comprehensive income attributed to the members 321,989 - 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

    Note 2016 2015 

     $ $ 

ASSETS       

CURRENT ASSETS      

       

Cash & cash equivalents    4 1,229,677                  -    

Trade and other receivables   5 52,503                  -    

Inventories    6 20,432                  -    

Other assets    7 101,047                  -    

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS    1,403,659                  -    

       

NON-CURRENT ASSETS      

Property, plant and equipment   8 15,661                  -    

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   15,661                  -    

       

TOTAL ASSETS    1,419,320                  -    

       

LIABILITIES       

CURRENT LIABILITIES      

Trade and other payables   9 372,327                  -    

Income received in advance   10 356,159                  -    

Provisions    11 243,232                  -    

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   971,718                  -    

       

       

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Provisions     12 125,613                  -    

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   125,613                  -    

       

TOTAL LIABILITIES    1,097,331                  -    

       

NET ASSETS    321,989                  -    

EQUITY       

Retained Earnings   19 259,485                  -    

Reserves    20 62,504                  -    

TOTAL EQUITY    321,989                  -    
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

   Note Reserves Accumulated Total 

     Funds Equity 

    $ $ $ 

       

Balance at 1 July 2014   - - - 

       

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     

Surplus attributable to the entity  - - - 

       

Transfer from reserve   - - - 

Transfer to reserve   - - - 

    - - - 

       

Total comprehensive income  - - - 

attributable to members of the entity     

       

Balance at 30 June 
2015 

  - - - 

       

Balance at 1 July 2015   - - - 

       

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     

Surplus attributable to the entity  - 321,989 321,989 

       

Marathon & Canoe Polo Committee 20 64,293 (64,293) - 

previously recorded in ACI liabilities     

Transfer from reserve  20 30,262 (30,262) - 

Transfer to reserve  20 (32,051) 32,051 - 

    (1,789) 1,789 - 

       

Total comprehensive income  62,504 259,485 321,989 

attributable to members of the entity     

       

Balance at 30 June 
2016 

  62,504 259,485 321,989 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

    Note 2016 2015 

      $   $  

       

       

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

       

Receipts of grants    6,238,576                  -    

Other receipts    1,763,484  

Payments to suppliers and employees    (8,313,036)                  -    
Contributions received from dissolution 
of 

 
 

1,523,725 
                 -    

Australian Canoeing Incorporated     

Interest Received     16,928                  -    

       

Net Cash inflows/(outflows) from Operating Activities   1,229,677                  -    

       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

       

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  -                  -    

Payments for sale of property, plant and equipment  -                  -    

       

Net Cash inflows/(outflows) from Investing Activities   -                  -    

       

Net increase in cash held    1,229,677                  -    

       

Cash and equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  -                  -    

       

Cash and equivalents at the end of the financial year  4 1,229,677                  -    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
 

The financial statements cover Australian Canoeing Limited 

as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in 

Australia. Australian Canoeing Limited is a company limited 

by guarantee. 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 

POLICIES 

Basis of Preparation 

Australian Canoeing Limited applies Australian Accounting 

Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements as set out in 

AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting 

Standards and AASB 2010–2: Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 

Requirements.  

The financial statements are general purpose financial 

statements that have been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 

Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 

(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The company is a not-

for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under 

Australian Accounting Standards.  

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies 

that the AASB has concluded would result in financial 

statements containing relevant and reliable information 

about transactions, events and conditions. Material 

accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 

financial statements are presented below and have been 

consistently applied unless stated otherwise.  

The financial statements, except for the cash flow 

information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and 

are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by 

the measurement at fair value of selected non-current 

assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts 

presented in the financial statements have been rounded to 

the nearest dollar. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 31 

October 2016 by the directors of the company. 

Accounting Policies 

a). Revenue 

Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income when the entity obtains control of 

the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits 

gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount 

of the grant can be measured reliably.  

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be 

satisfied before it is eligible to receive the contribution, the 

recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until 

those conditions are satisfied.  

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an 

obligation to deliver economic value directly back to the 

contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and 

the grant revenue is recognised in the statement of financial 

position as a liability until the service has been delivered to 

the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income 

on receipt.  

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when 

received.  

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest 

method, which for floating rate financial assets is the rate 

inherent in the instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised 

when the right to receive a dividend has been established. 

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon 

the delivery of the service to the customers. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services 

tax. 

b). Inventories 

Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. Inventories held for distribution are 

measured at cost adjusted, where applicable, for any loss of 

service potential. 

Inventories acquired at no cost, or for nominal 

consideration, are valued at the current replacement cost as 

at the date of acquisition. 
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c). Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair 

value as indicated, less, where applicable, accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are 

therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the 

carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than its 

estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is 

written down immediately to its estimated recoverable 

amount and impairment losses are recognised either in 

profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment 

losses relate to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of 

recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators 

are present (refer to Note 1(c) for details of impairment). 

Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost, 

or for nominal cost, are valued and recognised at the fair 

value of the asset at the date it is acquired. 

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including 

buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding freehold 

land, is depreciated on a straight line basis over the asset’s 

useful life to the entity commencing from the time the asset 

is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are 

depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period 

of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the 

improvements. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 

assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Office Equipment 33.33% 

Motor Vehicles 30.00% 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 

proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or losses are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the 

revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to 

retained earnings. 

d). Impairment of Assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the entity assesses 

whether there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is 

carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable 

amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s carrying 

amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its 

recoverable amount is recognised immediately in the profit 

or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in 

accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with 

the revaluation model in AASB 116). Any impairment loss of 

a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in 

accordance with that other Standard.Where it is not possible 

to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 

the entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and 

intangible assets with indefinite lives. 

e). Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-

term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are 

benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected 

to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the 

annual reporting period in which the employees render the 

related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. 

Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 

(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 

obligation is settled. 

The company’s obligations for short-term employee benefits 

such as wages, salaries and sick leave are recognised as a 

part of current trade and other payables in the statement of 

financial position. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The company classifies employees’ long service leave and 

annual leave entitlements as other long-term employee 

benefits as they are not expected to be settled wholly within 

12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in 

which the employees render the related service. Provision is 

made for the company’s obligation for other long-term 

employee benefits, which are measured at the present value 
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of the expected future payments to be made to employees. 

Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future 

wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee 

departures, and are discounted at rates determined by 

reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period 

on government bonds that have maturity dates that 

approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the 

premeasurement of obligations for other long-term 

employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is 

recognised in profit or loss classified under employee 

benefits expense. 

The company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits 

are presented as non-current liabilities in its statement of 

financial position, except where the company does not have 

an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 

months after the end of the reporting period, in which case 

the obligations are presented as current liabilities. 

Retirement benefit obligations 

Defined contribution superannuation benefits 

All employees of the company receive defined contribution 

superannuation entitlements, for which the company pays 

the fixed superannuation guarantee contribution (currently 

9.5% of the employee’s average ordinary salary) to the 

employee’s superannuation fund of choice. All contributions 

in respect of employees’ defined contribution entitlements 

are recognised as an expense when they become payable. 

The company’s obligation with respect to employees’ 

defined contribution entitlements is limited to its obligation 

for any unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions at 

the end of the reporting period. All obligations for unpaid 

superannuation guarantee contributions are measured at 

the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 

obligation is settled and are presented as current liabilities 

in the company’s statement of financial position. 

f). Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 

held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less, 

and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 

short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement 

of financial position. 

g). Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors 

Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due 

from state associations, clubs, athletes and any outstanding 

grant receipts. Receivables expected to be collected within 

12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified 

as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non 

current assets. 

Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method, less any provision for impairment. 

Refer to Note 1(m) for further discussion on impairment 

losses. 

h). Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 

amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount 

of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with 

other receivables or payables in the statement of financial 

position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 

components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 

activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 

are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts 

from customers or payments to suppliers. 

i). Income Tax 

No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is 

exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income Tax 

Assessment Act 1997. 

j). Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the entity has a legal or 

constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which 

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result 

and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions 

recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts 

required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 

period. 
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k). Comparative Figures 

Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative 

figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 

presentation for the current financial year. 

l). Trade and Other Payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods 

and services received by the company during the reporting 

period that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. 

The balance is recognised as a current liability with the 

amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the 

liability. 

m). Economic Dependence 

Australian Canoeing Limited is dependent on the Australian 

Sports Commission and its members for the majority of its 

revenue used to operate the business. At the date of this 

report, the Board of Directors has no reason to believe the 

Australian Sports Commission or its members will not 

continue to support Australian Canoeing Limited. 

n). Financial Instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 

the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to 

the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the 

date that the company commits itself to either purchase or 

sell the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). Financial 

instruments are initially measured at fair value plus 

transactions costs except where the instrument is classified 

“at fair value through profit or loss” in which case 

transaction costs are recognised immediately as expenses in 

profit or loss. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair 

value, amortised cost using the effective interest method, or 

cost. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are 

used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, 

valuation techniques are adopted. 

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the 

financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 

recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for 

impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation 

of the difference between that initial amount and the 

maturity amount calculated using the effective interest 

method. 

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest 

income or interest expense over the relevant period and is 

equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction 

costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 

expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the 

contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 

Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate 

an adjustment to the carrying amount with a consequential 

recognition of an income or expense item in profit or loss. 

(i) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or 

loss through the amortisation process and when the 

financial asset is derecognised. 

(ii) Financial liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial 

guarantees are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the 

amortisation process and when the financial liability is 

derecognised. 

Impairment  

At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses 

whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset has 

been impaired. A financial asset (or a group of financial 

assets) is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is 

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 

events (a “loss event”) having occurred, which has an impact 

on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s). 

In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss 

events may include: indications that the debtors or a group 

of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, 

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 

indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic 

conditions that correlate with defaults. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans 

and receivables), a separate allowance account is used to 

reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by 
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credit losses. After having taken all possible measures of 

recovery, if management establishes that the carrying 

amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the 

written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account 

or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is 

reduced directly if no impairment amount was previously 

recognised in the allowance account. 

When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise 

have been past due or impaired have been renegotiated, the 

company recognises the impairment for such financial assets 

by taking into account the original terms as if the terms have 

not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have 

occurred are duly considered. 

Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual 

rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is 

transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer 

has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and 

benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are 

derecognised when the related obligations are discharged or 

cancelled, or have expired. The difference between the 

carrying amount of the financial liability, which is 

extinguished or transferred to another party, and the fair 

value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-

cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

o). Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments  

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments 

incorporated into the financial statements based on 

historical knowledge and best available current information. 

Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 

and are based on current trends and economic data, 

obtained both externally and within the company. 

Key judgments 

Employee benefits 

For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee 

Benefits defines obligations for short-term employee 

benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 

12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in 

which the employees render the related services. As the 

company expects that most employees will not use all of 

their annual leave entitlements in the same year in which 

they are earned or during the 12-month period that follows 

(despite an informal company policy that requires annual 

leave to be used within 18 months), the directors believe 

that obligations for annual leave entitlements satisfy the 

definition of other long-term employee benefits and, 

therefore, are required to be measured at the present value 

of the expected future payments to be made to employees. 

p). New Accounting Standards for Application in Future 

Periods 

The adoption of the following Accounting Standards has 

been concluded to have no effect on the financial 

statements on their initial application such that no 

disclosures under AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors or other transitional 

disclosures have been triggered 

- AASB 2014-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) - 

Application of AASB 9 (December 2010) (Effective from 1 

January 2015); 

- AASB 2015-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from the withdrawal of AASB 1031 

Material (Effective from 1 July 2015); and 

- AASB 2015-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards - Financial Reporting Requirements for Australian 

Groups with a Foreign Parent (Effective from 1 July 2015). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

NOTE 2: REVENUE    2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Revenue       

Grants and Programs    6,238,576 - 

Affiliation Fees    172,581 - 

Interest Received    16,928 - 

Education and ACAS    106,089 - 

Sponsorship Income    1,725 - 

Event Income     99,221 - 

Marathon committee income  20 17,000 - 

Canoe Polo committee income  20 13,262 - 

Sundry Income    31,032 - 

     6,696,414 - 

       

Other income       

Contributions received from dissolution of   304,795 - 

Australian Canoeing Incorporated     

Marathon & Canoe Polo Committee   64,293 - 

previously recorded in ACI liabilities     

Other Income     - - 

     369,088 - 

       

Total revenue and other income   7,065,502 - 

       

       

NOTE 3: EXPENDITURE    2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Employee benefit expense    2,694,335 - 

Depreciation and amortisation expense   5,709 - 

Doubtful debts expense    2,000 - 

Marathon committee expense  20 12,337 - 

Canoe Polo committee expense  20 19,714 - 

Rental expense    35,000 - 

Audit, legal and consultancy expense   44,972 - 

Administration expense    295,241 - 

Other expenses - High Performance Operations   3,634,205 - 

Total Expenditure    6,743,513 - 

       

       

NOTE 4: CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS    2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Cash at bank     1,229,677 - 

     1,229,677 - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS 2016 2015 

     $ $ 

CURRENT       

Accounts Receivables     34,583 - 

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts   5a (3,700) - 

Other Debtors    21,620 - 

     52,503 - 

       

       

a) Provision for Impairment of Receivables    

Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:   

     $  

Provision for impairment as at 7 July 2015  1,700  

– Charge for year    2,000  

– Written off     -  

Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2016  3,700  

– Written back / recouped    -  

Provision for impairment as at 30 June 2016  3,700  

       

       

NOTE 6: INVENTORIES    2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Current:       

Kayaks     20,432 - 

     20,432 - 

       

       

NOTE 7: OTHER ASSETS     2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Current:       

Prepayments     101,047 - 

     101,047 - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

NOTE 8: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Leasehold improvements      

At Cost     21,371 - 

Less: Accumulated Depreciation    (5,710) - 

     15,661 - 

       

Movements in Carrying Amounts     

Movement in the carrying amounts for plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of 

the current financial year:      

     Leasehold  

     Improvements Total 

     $ $ 

2016       

Balance at the beginning of the year   - - 

Additions at cost    21,371 21,371 

Disposals     - - 

Amortisation     (5,710) (5,710) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  15,661 15,661 

       

       

NOTE 9: TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES  2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Current:       

Accounts Payable     5,342 - 

Accruals      17,000 - 

Other     349,985 - 

     372,327 - 

       

       

NOTE 10: INCOME RECEIVED IN ADVANCE  2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Current:       

Government Grants    356,159 - 

     356,159 - 

       

       

NOTE 11: PROVISIONS     2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Current:       

Employee Entitlements      

Annual Leave     243,232 - 

     243,232 - 

       

Non Current:      

Employee Entitlements      

Long Service Leave    125,613 - 

     125,613 - 
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Provision for Employee Benefits  

Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued 

for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based on 

past experience, the company does not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current 

liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the 

company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their 

leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested 

in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. 

In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being 

taken is based upon historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been discussed in Note 

1(d). 

NOTE 12: STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a) Reconciliation of Cash 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows cash includes cash at bank and cash on hand. Cash at 30 June 2016 as shown in 

the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows: 

     2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Cash at Bank     1,229,677 - 

       

       

(b) Reconciliation of Net Cash provided by Operating Activities to Surplus/(Deficit) from 
ordinary activities 

     $ $ 

Surplus     297,425 - 

       

Plus/(Less): Non Cash Items     

Depreciation and Amortisation    5,709 - 

       

Changes in Assets and Liabilities     

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables    (52,502) - 

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets   (78,484) - 

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables   434,830 - 

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities    253,854 - 

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions   368,845 - 

     1,229,677 - 
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NOTE 13: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, short-term 

investments, accounts receivable and payable, and leases. The carrying amounts for each category of financial instruments, 

measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

    Note 2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Financial assets      

Cash and cash 
equivalents   4 

1,229,677 - 

Loans and receivables   5 52,503 - 

Total financial assets    1,282,180 - 

       

       

Financial liabilities      

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:     

 - Trade and other 
payables 

  9 372,327 - 

Total financial liabilities    372,327 - 

 

NOTE 14: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or 

indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is considered key management personnel. 

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the company during the year are as follows: 

     2016 2015 

      $   $  

       

Key management personnel compensation 
 

         
455,209                   -    

 

NOTE 15: OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are controlled or jointly controlled 

by those key management personnel individually or collectively with their close family members. 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to 

other persons unless otherwise stated. 
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NOTE 16: COMMITMENTS      

       

Operating Lease Commitments   2016 2015 

      $   $  
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements  

       

Payable – minimum lease payments (New South Wales Institute of Sport):  

 - not later than 12 months 
   

           
30,000                   -    

 - later than 12 months but not later than five years 
 

           
60,000                   -    

 - later than five years                     -                     -    

       

The property lease commitments are non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised 
in the financial statements. Increase in lease commitments may occur in line with the consumer price 
index (CPI) and annual rent review percentage of 3%. 

       

       

NOTE 17: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS   

The directors are not aware of any contingent assets and liabilities as at reporting date.  

       

       

NOTE 18: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD    

The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period. 

       

       

NOTE 19: RETAINED EARNINGS   2016 2015 

     $ $ 

       

Retained Earnings at the Beginning of the   - - 

Financial Year      

Accumulated Funds from Australian Canoeing  304,795 - 

Incorporated       

Profit/ (Loss) for the year    17,194 - 

Transfer to Reserves    64,293 - 

Transfer from Reserves    (64,293) - 

       

     321,989 - 

       

Assets & Liabilities taken over from Australian Canoeing    

Incorporated include the following:     

       

Cash & Cash Equivalents    1,523,725  

Trade & Other Receivables   137,878  

Property, Plant & Equipment   21,370  

Trade & Other Payables    (1,085,584)  

Provisions     (292,594)  

       

Net Assets     304,795  
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NOTE 20: RESERVES    2016 2015 

     $ $ 

Marathon Committee      

Reserves at the beginning of the financial year:  - - 

       

Marathon Committee previously   17,501 - 

recorded in ACI liabilities      

       

Transfers from earnings:    17,000 - 

       

Transfers from reserves:    (12,337) - 

       

Reserves at the end of the financial 
year: 

  22,164 - 

       

Canoe Polo Committee      

Reserves at the beginning of the financial year:  - - 

       

Canoe Polo Committee previously   46,792 - 

recorded in ACI liabilities      

       

Transfers from earnings:    13,262 - 

       

Transfers from reserves:    (19,714) - 

       

Reserves at the end of the financial 
year: 

  40,340 - 

       

Total Reserves at the end of the financial year:  62,504 - 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Australian Canoeing Limited, the directors of the company declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out in the financial report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 

a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements; and 

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at 30 June 2016 and of its performance for the year 

ended on that date. 

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 

 

Danielle Woodward OAM (Director)    Ian Hume (Director) 

 

Dated this 31st day of October 2016 
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AUSTRALIAN CANOEING LIMITED 
ABN 61 189 833 125 

 

 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF AUSTRALIAN CANOEING LIMITED 

 
 

 
Report on the Financial Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Australian Canoeing Limited (the company), which comprises the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the statement of profit & loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors’ statement. 
 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material  
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that 
the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of Australian Canoeing 
Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 
 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
  
In our opinion, the financial report of Australian Canoeing Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of its performance for the year ended on 
that date; and 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
 
 
Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report 
 
 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of Australian Canoeing Limited (the company) for the year ended 30 June 2016 
included on Australian Canoeing Limited’s web site. The company’s directors are responsible for the integrity of Australian 
Canoeing Limited’s web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The auditor’s report refers only 
to the financial report named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked 
to/from the financial report. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data 
communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information included in 
the audited financial report presented on this web site. 
 

 
CBC Partners  
Chartered Accountants 
 
 

 
 
Ross E. Chapman FCA 
Partner 
 
 
SYDNEY 
Dated this 2nd November 2016 
 
 
 
 
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
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